
Cumbria County Council

S U M M O N S   A N D   A G E N D A

f o r   t h e   M e e t i n g   o f   t h e

C o u n t y   C o u n c i l

o n   Wednesday, 11 September 2019

This agenda is available on request in alternative formats.

Serving the People of Cumbria



2

CUMBRIA COUNTY COUNCIL

MEETING OF THE COUNTY COUNCIL

To: ALL MEMBERS OF THE COUNTY COUNCIL 

You are hereby summoned to attend the meeting of Cumbria County Council to be 
held at the County Offices, Kendal, on Wednesday 11 September 2019 at 10.00 am

Yours sincerely

Chief Executive

Cumbria House
Carlisle
CA1 1RD

Tuesday, 3 September 2019

GROUP MEETINGS

GROUP DATE AND TIME ROOM

Labour Monday 9 September 2019 at 
10am

Conference Room A 
Cumbria House, 

Carlisle

Conservative Friday 6 September 2019 at 
10am

Council Chamber
County Offices, Kendal

Liberal Democrat Monday 9 September 2019 at 
10am 

Committee Room 2
County Offices, Kendal



3

A G E N D A

PART 1: ITEMS LIKELY TO BE CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE 
OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

1  ROLL CALL OF MEMBERS  

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To disclose any disclosable pecuniary interests relating to any item on the agenda.

Members are asked to refer to the Monitoring Officer for advice in relation to the 
declaration of interests at meetings of the full Council.  A complete list of declarations 
notified to the Monitoring Officer by 5.00 pm on Monday 9 September 2019 will be 
circulated at the meeting. If any member wishes to correct or add to the circulated list, 
guidance on what constitutes a disclosable pecuniary interest is set out below.

NB The following is a summary of what constitutes a disclosable pecuniary 
interest. Please seek advice from the Monitoring Officer.

Members must disclose any disclosable pecuniary interest they have in any item on the 
agenda which comprises

1 Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 

2 Details of any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from 
the authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your 
election expenses.  (This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992. 

3 Details of any contract which is made between you (or a body in which you have 
a beneficial interest) and the authority 

(a) Under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed; and 

(b)  Which has not been fully discharged. 

4 Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the authority.  

5 Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of 
the authority for a month or longer.  

6 Details of any tenancy where (to your knowledge) 



4

(a) The landlord is the authority; and

(b) The tenant is a body in which you have a beneficial interest.

7 Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where

(a) That body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the authority; and

(b) Either – 

(i) The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) If that share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class.

In addition, you must also disclose other non-pecuniary interests set out in the Code of 
Conduct where these have not already been registered.

Note

A “disclosable pecuniary interest” is an interest of a councillor or their partner 
(which means spouse or civil partner, a person with whom they are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom they are living as if they are civil 
partners). 
  

3  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

To consider whether there are any items on the agenda in respect of which the press 
and public should be excluded during consideration of the item.
  

4  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

4.1 Mr John Hall from Kendal wishes to make a statement about Climate Change.

  
5  MINUTES

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 27 June 
2019 (copy enclosed)

(Pages 7 - 22)



5

6  ANNOUNCEMENTS AND COMMUNICATIONS

To receive any announcements from the Chair, Leader, Members of the Cabinet or the 
Chief Executive
  
7  MINUTES OF THE CABINET

The receive the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 25 July 2019 (copy 
enclosed)

The Leader will ask members if they have any questions on the minutes taking each 
page in turn. Members should state clearly the minute number of the item concerned.
  
(Pages 23 - 30)

8  CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD ANNUAL UPDATE 2018/19

To receive a report from the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services (copy enclosed)
  
(Pages 31 - 62)

9  SCRUTINY UPDATE REPORT

To consider a report by the Chair of the Scrutiny Management Board (copy enclosed)

(Pages 63 - 70)

10 QUESTIONS

To consider questions from Members, in accordance with Council Procedure Rule No 
11.2 to 11.5 to the Leader, a Member of the Executive or the Chair of any Committee.  

11 MINUTES OF COMMITTEES

To receive reports from Committees of the Council and receive questions and answers 
in accordance with Council Procedure Rules 11.1 to 11.5.  

(A) Cumbria Pensions Committee 

To receive the draft minutes of a meeting of the Cumbria Pensions Committee 
held on 11 June 2019 (copy enclosed)

  (Pages 71 - 84)

(B) Audit and Assurance Committee - 26 June 2019 

To receive the minutes of a meeting of the Audit and Assurance Committee held 
on 26 June 2019 (copy enclosed)
   
(Pages 85 - 94)



6

(C)  Audit and Assurance Minutes 26 July 2019 

To receive the draft minutes of a meeting of the Audit and Assurance Committee 
held on 26 July 2019 (copy enclosed)
  
(Pages 95 - 104)

(D)  Workington Harbour Management Committee 

To receive the minutes of a meeting of the Workington Harbour Management 
Committee held on 18 July 2019 (copy enclosed)

(Pages 105 - 110)

12 NOTICE OF MOTIONS

To consider notice of motions for up to a specified period of one hour.

Ms R Hanson will move:-

Cumbria County Council has long recognised the importance of tackling Climate 
Change. This Council remains fully committed as we seek to reduce our own carbon 
emissions. To date this Council has:-
 

• Reduced emissions through our waste contract and reducing waste to landfill
• Introduced low energy schemes in many of our buildings
• Introduced the use of low emission fleet vehicles and pool cars
• Installed LED street lighting

 
However, this Council cannot tackle Climate Change in isolation and we will collaborate 
with our 6 district authorities and our national parks colleagues as indicated in the 
Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy - "To become a “carbon neutral” County and to 
mitigate the likely impact of existing climate change".

This Council therefore welcomes the recent decision by Parliament to declare a Climate 
Change Emergency in the UK, including Cumbria. We now call upon the Government to 
produce a clear plan of action, backed up by sufficient resources, to address this 
existential threat.

  
13 SPEECHES

To hear speeches (not exceeding five minutes each) for up to a specified period of 30 
minutes, from individual members, of which at least 24 hours’ notice has been given to 
the Executive Director – Corporate, Customer and Community Services.  



1

COUNTY COUNCIL

Minutes of a Meeting of the County Council held on Thursday, 27 June 2019 in the  
Council Chamber, County Hall, Kendal at 10am

PRESENT:

Councillor Mrs C Bowditch (Chair)

Mr J Airey
Mr T Allison
Mr AL Barry
Mr J Bell
Mrs PA Bell
Mr B Berry
Mr RW Betton
Mr RK Bingham
Mr J Bland
Mr A Bowness
Mr M Brereton
Mrs A Burns
Mrs HF Carrick
Mr F Cassidy
Mr W Clark
Mr SB Collins
Mr A Connell
Mr GD Cook
Mr N Cotton
Mr P Dew
Ms C Driver
Ms D Earl
Mr GM Ellis
Mr D English
Mrs S Evans

Mr LN Fisher
Mr D Gawne
Mr W Graham
Mrs BC Gray
Mr KR Hamilton
Mrs RC Hanson
Dr S Haraldsen
Mr M Hawkins
Mr C Hogg
Mr JS Holliday
Mr N Hughes
Mr MA Johnson
Mr A Kennon
Lord R Liddle
Mr J Lister
Mr KA Little
Dr K Lockney
Mr T Lywood
Mrs EA Mallinson
Mr J Mallinson
Mr AJ Markley (Vice-Chair)
Mr NH Marriner
Ms C McCarron-Holmes
Mr W McEwan
Mr A McGuckin

Mr FI Morgan
Mrs M Rae
Mr GRPM Roberts
Mrs S Sanderson
Mr B Shirley
Mr DE Southward
Mrs V Tarbitt
Mr P Thornton
Mrs C Tibble
Mr CP Turner
Mr T Wentworth Waites
Mrs H Wall
Mr R Watson
Mr WJ Wearing
Mr C Weber
Mr D Whipp
Mr CJ Whiteside
Mr S Wielkopolski
Mrs EL Williamson
Mrs J Willis
Mr D Wilson
Mr M Wilson
Mr AW Wonnacott
Mr MH Worth
Mr SF Young

There were 76 members present at the start of the meeting. 

Apologies for absence were received from Mr MS Barbour, Miss HJ Fearon, 
Mr HGG Graham, Mr K Hitchen, Mr AWC Lamb, Mr P McSweeney, Mr S Stoddart 
and Mr R Worthington.

7

Agenda Item 5



2

23 ROLL CALL OF MEMBERS

24 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest made on this occasion.

25 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED, that the press and public be not excluded from the meeting during 
discussion of any items of business on the agenda today.

26 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

There were no public questions, petitions or statements made to the Council.

27 MINUTES

RESOLVED, that the minutes of the previous meeting held in 11 April 2019 be 
agreed with the following amendments:-

Add Dr Lockney to the list of attendees.

On Minute No 13 – Minutes of the Executive, in paragraphs 7 and 9 change the 
word Appleby to Kirkby Stephen.
 
On Minute No 21 – Notices of Motion, in paragraph 18 change the word reminder to 
reminded. 

28 ANNOUNCEMENTS AND COMMUNICATIONS

The Chair announced that the details of the engagements undertaken by herself 
and the Vice Chair since the last meeting had been circulated to all members.

The Chair drew attention to the fact that this Saturday marked National Armed 
Forces Day, and outlined a number of things happening today to mark this occasion, 
one of which was a raffle.  The prize for the raffle was a beautifully hand-carved 
rocking horse kindly made and donated by David Richardson, an Armed Forces 
Veteran, who had learned to carve as a result of the courses held in Catterick Camp 
by Help for Heroes.  All the money raised, at David’s request would go to Jigsaw – 
Cumbria Children’s Hospice.  

The Leader of the Council made an announcement about the LGA Peer Review 
which had taken place at the beginning of July.  The LGA Review Team had been 
cross party, and had included officers from other local authorities across the 
country. The Leader thanked all members and officers that had taken part in the 
review and looked forward to the outcome being published in the near future.  

8



3

The Cabinet Member for Environment made an announcement in which she stated 
how proud she was to be the Cabinet Member with responsibility for the Armed 
Forces Portfolio.  She informed Council about the work that took place behind the 
scenes to support members of the armed forces, veterans, and their families across 
the county.  The Cabinet Member commented that none of this work would be 
possible without the hard work, and dedication of the Council’s dedicated Armed 
Forces Champions, and she took the opportunity to acknowledge and thank the 
member Champions for all their hard work and commitment.

The Cabinet Member then detailed the special events happening in support of the 
National Armed forces day including:-

 The re-signing of the armed forces covenant, which showed the County 
Council’s very clear commitment to the county’s ex-armed forces 
personnel, and

 A very special lunchtime event with some of the Council employees.

The Cabinet Member for Public Health and Community Services made an 
announcement about the Health and Wellbeing Coaches, in which she 
congratulated the council’s team of Health and Wellbeing Coaches, who earlier this 
week were announced as the regional winners in the Health Equalities Award 
category in this year’s NHS Parliamentary Awards.
 
Following on from this success, the team would now form the shortlist for the 
national awards.  The winners would be formally announced on the 10 July, and the 
Cabinet Member said that to have this recognised on a national scale was fantastic 
news.

She thanked the Director of Public Health and all of the team for their commitment 
to making this work, and then paid tribute to the late Cllr Ian Stewart, who 
championed the HAWCs from the very start and had the vision and passion to take 
this forward. 

The Cabinet Member for Schools and Learning made an announcement about the 
launch of the County Council’s latest apprenticeship recruitment campaign. 

From today, a wide range of new apprenticeship opportunities would be advertised 
on the council’s website, with opportunities available in every district.  
Apprenticeships were available in Adult Social Care, Business & Administration, 
Customer Service, Children & Young People’s Workforce, Project Management, 
Highways Maintenance and Cumbria Fire and Rescue Service.

The Cabinet Member for Cabinet Member for Customers, Transformation and Fire 
and Rescue made an announcement about the Highways Hotline.

The Highways Hotline would transition from Business Support to the Service Centre 
on 1 July 2019.  The Highways Hotline telephone number would not be changing.  
The new team would include members of staff based at Barrow and who would link 
to the Carlisle base through satellite technology. 

9



4

The Chief Executive then made an announcement about the resignation of the 
Executive Director – People (Deputy Chief Executive), John Macilwraith, who would 
be leaving Cumbria County Council at the end of August.

The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services paid tribute to the Executive Director’s 
hard work and dedication, and members acknowledged that he was leaving 
Cumbria County Council in a much stronger position that when he first joined the 
authority.  All members wished Mr Macilwraith best wishes for the future.

29 MINUTES OF THE CABINET

The Leader presented the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 6 June 2019.

On Minute No 12 – Statements by the Leader and Cabinet Members, Mr B Shirley 
asked the Cabinet Member for Schools and Learning whether she accepted 
responsibility for what was described in the report as “significant areas of weakness” 
in Cumbria’s SEND provision.  He asked the Cabinet Member what she intended to 
do about the significant areas of weakness highlighted.

The Cabinet Member responded to say that the outcome of the inspection was that 
the Local Area now had to produce a Written Statement of Action (WSOA). 
Following the initial inspection feedback, the SEND partnership group and key 
accountable officers met to develop an approach to preparing the WSOA, which 
was due for submission on 21 August.

She said that the County Council was working closely with the DfE advisor for 
Cumbria on the draft WSOA, and that this work had started immediately following 
the inspection.  The statement of action would demonstrate Cumbria’s plan for 
addressing the weaknesses identified during the inspection.

The Cabinet Member informed members that the SEND Partnership Improvement 
Board would be reconstituted, and would take responsibility, under an independent 
chair, for the strategic leadership of the improvement journey for SEND. The board 
would oversee the improvement activity of 6 new subgroups, focusing on a priority 
area, comprising the 9 identified areas of weakness.

She then asked Council to note that although schools in Cumbria had the highest 
numbers of children with special education needs, the exam results were still good.  
However, wider provision and greater flexibility of funding was needed to address 
many of the issues associated with SEND.

The Leader of the Opposition referred to Minute No 14 (b) – Response to the 
Referral from Eden Local Committee, and the resolution which stated that Cabinet 
would work with him to lobby Government for additional highways funding for 
Cumbria.  Mr Airey stated that he had not had any contact from Cabinet about this.

The Leader of the Council thanked Mr Airey for his offer of support, and would 
speak to him outside of the meeting about taking this forward.

Also with reference to  Minute No 14 (b) Mr Hughes asked whether the Cabinet 
Member for Highways and Transport felt that the Government should be backing 

10



5

much needed infrastructure development of railways, specifically those rail schemes 
to restore rail links on the west coast of Cumbria and also on the North East Coast.

The Cabinet Member said the County Council continued to work closely with 
Government on this.
 
Mr Ellis asked the Leader of the Council to share the news about the 4% increase in 
pupil funding at primary school level, as indicated in the Schools Outturn Appendix . 

The Leader reminded members that although the overall funding had a net increase 
of 4%, the pupil numbers had risen by more than 4%, which in effect meant no 
increase in income.
 
On Minute No 15 – 2018/19 Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring Mr Dew asked 
about the reference to the County Council’s ‘clear commitment’ to ‘transform 
services by being enterprising’.  He asked the Deputy Leader to outline how this 
would be done.

The Deputy Leader referred to a meeting which was taking place on Monday 29 
July, to which all members had been invited, to consider about the County Council’s 
Enterprise Framework.  Further discussions would take place during this meeting on 
the context to the Council’s enterprise approach and the key elements of the draft 
Enterprise Framework.

On Minute No 16 – Corporate Performance Monitoring Report Quarter 4 Mr Dew 
asked about the failure to launch the All Age Carer’s Charter on time despite its 
fundamental importance for carers.  He asked the Leader what had caused such a 
significant delay.

The Leader replied to say that he had raised this at Cabinet to ensure that the 
unintended consequences of people receiving care in their own homes, instead of in 
a hospital or care home, were understood.  This work was ongoing and the charter 
would be delivered as soon as possible. 

With reference to Minute No 19 – Customer Strategy, ICT Plan and Workforce Plan 
and the statement that the target for increased workplace attendance had not been 
achieved, Mr Dew asked the Cabinet Member for Customers, Transformation and 
Fire and Rescue what the County Council was doing to address this issue.

The Cabinet Member reassured members that this was being closely monitored and 
managed. 

On Minute No 20 – Review of Lake District National Park Local Plan Mr Clark asked 
for reassurance from Cabinet that the County Council would be supporting the 
development of affordable homes to allow young people to live and work in their 
communities.

The Cabinet Member for Environment reminded all members that Cumbria County 
Council was not the planning authority, however, she had made the point about the 
need for more affordable homes strongly to the Lake District National Park 
Authority.

11



6

30 2018/19 REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING REPORT - 
SUMMARY OF YEAR END POSITION AND 2019/20 CAPITAL BUDGET 
UPDATE

The Deputy Leader presented a report which set out the provisional year-end results 
(Outturn) against the Council’s revenue and capital budgets for the 2018/19 financial 
year. 

On the 6 June 2019 Cabinet received the ‘2018/19 Revenue and Capital Budget – 
Provisional Year End Results’ report and approved the recommendations. Any 
further changes required to the provisional outturn necessary to comply with 
statutory accounting requirements would be reported to Council in September, if 
required. 

The revised total net expenditure budget 2018/19 for the Council was £389.814m as 
at the 31 March 2019. The provisional outturn position as at 31 March 2019 was a 
balanced position.  Although there were some significant pressures on Directorate 
budgets which had been reported throughout the year,  these had been offset with 
Corporate Budget underspends.

In relation to the Capital Programme, overall there was a variance against the 
Council’s capital budget in 2018/19 of £12.771m; the £132.734m spend compared 
to the £145.505m capital budget.  This variance was made up of slippage 
(£15.285m), accelerated spend £2.616m and an underspend of (£0.102m). Council, 
when agreeing the Capital budget for 2019/20 in February 2019, assumed that 
slippage and accelerated spend on approved schemes would be automatically 
carried forward to 2019/20.  The figures presented in this report reflected that 
assumption.

The Deputy Leader took Council through the report and highlighted the key 
messages.

Dr Haraldsen commented that he felt it would have been more helpful for all 
members to have the same level of detail included in the Council report as Cabinet 
had when it considered the budget report.  The Deputy Leader noted these 
comments.

Mr Dew had concerns about the re-profiling of the Capital Programme, especially in 
light of the earlier concern raised in relation to SEND.

The Deputy Leader assured members that the funding was not being taken out of 
the budget, but was being deferred to a future year, to enable projects to come 
forward at the appropriate time. 

RESOLVED, that Council agrees to the reprofiling of £12.745m from the 2018/19 
Capital Programme into future years.

12



7

31 TREASURY MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19

The Deputy Leader presented a report which detailed treasury management 
activities during 2018/19, in accordance with best practice recommended in the 
CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management in Local Authorities. 

He then highlighted performance during the year and provided a record of activities 
undertaken to demonstrate that officers had properly fulfilled their responsibilities, as 
laid down in the Annual Strategy 2018/19 agreed by Full Council in February 2018.

RESOLVED, that Council 

(1) Note the annual treasury management report for 2018/19; and

(2) Note the year-end position for the Prudential Indicators 2018/19 and full 
compliance with the Council’s treasury management policies and 
practices during the year.

32 APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL

The Leader of the County Council presented a report which asked Council to 
consider appointments to the Independent Remuneration Panel.

The Council was required, under the Local Authorities (Members Allowances) 
(England) Regulations 2003 to have regard to the report of an Independent 
Remuneration Panel before making its annual Scheme for Members Allowances 
and expenses.

Members noted that the Independent Remuneration Panel would carry out its review 
during the period July to October 2019, with a view to reporting to Council with 
recommendations for the Members Allowances Scheme 2020-2021 in November 
2019. 

Members had concerns about the lack of a gender mix and sought assurances that 
the Council had tried to encourage applications from women to this Panel.

The Leader reassured Council had efforts had been made to encourage 
applications from women, but sadly none had come forward.

Dr Haraldsen commented that it was proving more difficult to attract members of the 
public to apply to groups of this type.  He was aware that there had been a growing 
number of calls on the Secretary of State to look at this to see if a national scheme 
could be agreed.  

Although some members had concerns about the effect a national scheme for 
expenses may have on a rural county such as Cumbria, where there was a large 
time element associated with getting around the county to meetings, there was 
support for discussing this further to see if joint lobbying could be undertaken to 
Government on this. 
 

13



8

RESOLVED, that members appoint Mr J Coughlin, Mr L Hanley and Mr J Nicol to 
form an Independent Remuneration Panel from 27 June 2019 to 30 
April 2023.

33 APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES - CUMBRIA POLICE & CRIME PANEL

The Leader of the Council presented a report which recommended that members be 
appointed to the Police and Crime Panel for 2019 in line with the procedure agreed 
between the County Council and District Councils. 

Cumbria Police and Crime Panel (PCP) was a statutory scrutiny body which was a 
joint committee between the County Council and the six District Councils.  The 
statutory membership of the panel was 10 councillor members and 2 co-opted 
members independent of the Councils.  The Cumbria local authorities had agreed 
that the councillor membership would reflect the political balance of the County as 
far as possible.

Members noted that the PCP’s arrangements indicated that where possible an 
Authority would give consideration to continuity of membership to enable the Panel’s 
expertise and skills to be developed for the effective scrutiny of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner.

RESOLVED, that Mr W McEwan, Miss H Fearon, Mr M Johnson, and Mr R 
Bingham be appointed as members of the Council to the Police and 
Crime Panel.

34 PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

Members of the Council received a presentation from the Director of Public Health 
on Adverse Childhood Experiences.  The presentation covered the following:-

 What are Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE)
 Why are they important
 National Context
 A framework for tackling ACEs
 What is happening locally
 Inequalities
 Health effects
 Social effects
 Service Impact

Once the Director of Public Health finished his presentation the Cabinet Member for 
Public Health and Community Services moved the report.

Members found the presentation extremely interesting and thanked the Director.  
During presentation of the ‘prevent’ recommendations members were surprised that 
no reference had been included to show how families could help to support this.  
Parents had a responsibility to try to ensure families stayed together. 

14



9

The Director acknowledged that the County Council needed to support families to 
try to stay together, but that it was often a delicate balance, as many families had a 
number of complexities which would prevent this happening.

Members asked about how they could access training to help them better 
understand the issues of ACE.  The Director replied to say that a training 
programme was currently being produced.

Members commented that Children Looked After and Care Leavers need the 
support and help of members as corporate parents.  They also felt that Foster 
Carers should be used to support these adverse childhood experiences.

Members said that one of the areas which needed to be strengthened to ensure 
children were not exposed to ACE, was Early Help.  This would be a crucial part of 
this process, especially in relation to signposting.

The Director informed members that the Early Help and 0-19 Services were 
currently being redesigned to help the County Council to tackle the ‘prevent’ 
agenda.

The Director of Public Health said that resolving the issues of ACE would require a 
great deal of partnership working with a wide range of organisations.

The meeting then broke for lunch at 12.25 and reconvened at 1.15pm

35 2018/19 ANNUAL REPORT OF THE CUMBRIA FIRE LOCAL PENSION 
BOARD

The Cabinet Member for Customers, Transformation and Fire and Rescue 
presented the Annual Report of the Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board 2018/19. 

RESOLVED that the report be received and noted.

36 SCRUTINY UPDATE REPORT

The Chair of Scrutiny Management Board presented a report which updated Council 
on the work of Scrutiny and any issues and developments that had occurred since 
the last meeting of Council.  

RESOLVED, that members note the work programme and recent activity 
undertaken by Scrutiny.

37 QUESTIONS

Mr Bingham asked the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport what progress, 
if any, had been made to clarify the procedure for speedily installing diversion and 
road closure signs when a County Highway could not be used.  His concerns had 
previously been raised, and at a special meeting it was suggested that local 

15



10

councillors would be informed of the revised procedures. Mr Bingham informed the 
Cabinet Member that to date he had not received any specific information. 

Mr Bingham also raised an additional issue with signage during the recent closure of 
A65 due to a burst water main at Kirkby  Lonsdale.  During this period only one road 
closed sign was set up at Junction 36b, which was 8 miles from the bridge, and 
none on the A65 to the east until a quarter of a mile from the bridge itself. He did not 
feel this was adequate.

The Cabinet Member responded to say that the Acting Executive Director – 
Economy and Highways had met recently with senior officials at the Canal Trust 
about this.  His view was that the County Council should be responsible for 
undertaking all road closures.  

The Cabinet Member AGREED to respond directly to the local member on this.

Mr Collins thanked the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport for the work 
the County Council had carried out for the new bridge at Burneside.  He asked the 
Cabinet Member whether there was any intention to repair the other 3 damaged 
bridges in his area, 2 of which were damaged as a result of Storm Desmond.

The Cabinet Member responded to say the County Council was still planning to 
carry out additional repairs to bridges, however, as this was the last year of IRP 
funding, he would investigate and respond to Mr Collins .

Mr Morgan asked the Cabinet Member for Schools and Learning, following the 
recent announcement on the Western Excellence in Leading and Learning (WELL) 
Programme, whether she could update members on this.

The Cabinet Member responded to say that this project was being run with £1.7m of 
funding from Sellafield Ltd and the support of the whole education system.  The 
Western Excellence in Learning and Leadership (WELL) project was a unique 
opportunity for Cumbria, and was focused on three key areas: raising standards 
through evidence based research approaches; supporting disadvantaged pupils to 
achieve; and improving pupil mental health and wellbeing. 

These three areas were significant challenges across west Cumbria where average 
pupil attainment for disadvantaged pupils was consistently below the national 
average, the number of disadvantaged pupils consistently above, and emotional 
health and well-being needs more common than other parts of the county.  

Mrs E Mallinson asked the Cabinet Member for Economic Development about the 
proposals for the disabled parking bays at County Offices.  Given the Council’s 
commitment to promote accessibility, why was the number of disabled parking bays 
being reduced to just two.  This reduction would have a significant impact both on 
members of the public visiting the building and on many County Council members 
with blue badges, for whom these plans would make participation in the democratic 
process considerably more difficult.  

Mr Turner also commented on this and said that he would be speaking to a 
representative from the planning team about the County Council’s Planning 
Application which proposed changes to the disabled parking bays at County Offices.  

16



11

Given the Council’s commitment to promote accessibility, why are the number of 
disabled parking bays at the front of County Hall being reduced to just two?

The Cabinet Member for Economic Development AGREED to provide a written 
response.

Mr Hawkins asked the Cabinet Member for School and Learning for her views on 
the service the County Council provided for SEND and whether she believed that 
we undertake these as a ‘tick box’ exercise.

The Cabinet Member reiterated her previous statement that Cumbria County 
Council was committed to providing the best possible service for children with 
special education needs. However, there had been a marked increase in the 
number of children identified with special education needs, both in Cumbria and 
nationally, and the indication was that this situation was likely to increase further 
unless additional resources were identified.

Mr Worth asked the Cabinet Member for Schools and Learning to give members an 
update on the development of Sandside Lodge, and asked whether the County 
Council would be developing the safer routes for school.

The Cabinet Member gave members a detailed update on the new school, and 
members noted the County Council would receive the keys to the new building on 5 
July 2019.   She also detailed the Travel Plan for Sandside, which had been 
developed as part of the Safer Routes to School initiative.

Mr Hamilton asked the Leader and elected members to join him in wishing Georgia 
Stanway good luck, when she played for England Ladies Football Team in the 
World Cup match against Norway this evening.

All members of the County Council offered congratulation to Georgia, a local girl 
from Barrow in Furness, and wished her, and the rest of the England Ladies Team 
good luck. 
   
Mr Whiteside asked the Cabinet Member for Public Health and Community Services 
if further consultation could be considered with the service users at Daniel Hay 
Library.  He did not feel that 3 weeks was enough time for sufficient users, both 
current and possible future users to respond.

The Cabinet Member said she would talk to the Area Manager (Copeland) about the 
possibility of engaging in further consultation.  

Mr N Hughes asked the Cabinet Member for Health and Care Services about the 
closure of Shap Maternity Outreach Clinic, without any consultation with local 
elected members affected by this, and nor with the wider public.

The Cabinet Member responded to say that she understood that North Cumbria 
University Hospital NHS Trust had reviewed the maternity services offered at Shap 
and recognised the importance of continuity of care for all those women affected by 
this. 

17



12

In relation to the Integrated Care Communities Scheme, the member had concerns 
about the blue print for community involvement in Eden, which was a requirement of 
the ‘Healthcare for the Future’ Programme.  Details of which had never been 
published.  He asked the Cabinet Member – Health and Care Services to 
investigate this.

The Cabinet Member AGREED to provide a written response to this.     

38 MINUTES OF COMMITTEES

(A) Cumbria Pensions Committee

The Chair of Cumbria Pension Committee presented the minutes of the meeting 
held on 7 March 2019.

RESOLVED, that the minutes of the Cumbria Pensions Committee meeting held 
on 7 March 2019 be received and noted.

(B) Audit and Assurance Committee

The Chair of the Audit and Assurance Committee presented the minutes of the 
meeting held on 14 March 2019.

RESOLVED, that the minutes of the Audit and Assurance Committee meeting 
held on 14 March 2019 be received and noted.

(C) Workington Harbour Management Committee

The Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport presented the minutes of the 
Workington Harbour Management Committee meeting held on 23 April 2019.

RESOLVED, that the minutes of the Workington Harbour Management 
Committee meeting held on 23 April 2019 be received and noted.

(D) Standards Committee

The Chair of the Standards Committee presented the minutes of the meeting held 
on 26 April 2019.

RESOLVED, that the minutes of the Standards Committee meeting held on 26 
April 2019 be received and noted.

40 NOTICE OF MOTIONS

There were no notices of motion on this occasion.

18



13

41 SPEECHES

Mrs Mallinson gave a speech on Fluoridation of water in west Cumbria in which she 
highlighted the dangers associated with fluoride, which is an artificial toxic 
poisonous industrial waste, used in rat poisons and insecticides.

She detailed the effects of the substance on those with health problems, especially 
those affected by thyroid problems and impaired kidney functions.

Mrs Mallinson then referenced the use of fluoride as a medicine to help fight the 
effects of tooth decay, which was not proven to be successful, as the substance 
could actually cause browning of the teeth in some cases.  She felt that this was 
taking away the choice of individuals, and was in effect the equivalent of supplying a 
medical product without a licence, which was one of the main reasons why Scotland 
had withdrawn the use of fluoride from its drinking water.

Mrs Mallinson also highlighted her concerns about the effect of the use of fluoride 
on unborn children, as her research had indicated that fluoride is able to cross the 
placenta and could affect a developing child.  

She implored Cumbria County Council to look at this again, and stop the use of 
fluoride in drinking water.

Mr Whiteside then gave a speech on the A595, in which he stressed that the council 
needed to continue to focus on the issues with the A595.  Members representing the 
West of the county were well aware that the A595 was the only major road running 
through large parts of the West of the county and the only major road route 
providing access to one of the largest employers in the county, e.g. the Sellafield 
nuclear site.

The lack of capacity to meet both current and future demand had a major impact on 
the quality of life of residents of practically every town or settlement on the west 
coast as traffic diverted through unsuitable roads, and was also a major brake on 
the economic development of West Cumbria.

A couple of weeks ago councillors Morgan, Turner and myself met Highways 
England to discuss some of the issues.  

Mr Whiteside then flagged that local members were particularly concerned to ensure 
that action was taken to deal with the Moresby Viaduct section in a timely and 
properly planned way. 

Following this Mr Clark gave a speech on the North Air Ambulance about the Pride 
of Cumbria and what it meant to him.

Seven years ago on the seventh day of the seventh month he was enjoying the 
second part of a sunny charity triathlon in the Lake District.  On his bike he 
accelerated up the road with stunning views over Thirlmere lake, with his head down 
when a small stick caught in my wheel and stopped me dead. 

He went straight over the handlebars with little time to react, and landed on his head 
but was fortunate to be wearing a helmet. The force of the impact went down the 

19



14

right side of his neck leaving him with a high level spinal injury with little movement 
below my shoulders. Life changed in an instant.

From where the accident happened to the nearest major hospital was a good hour 
away and Newcastle RVI a specialist major trauma centre with the skills to handle 
injuries such as this would have been at least a 2 hour journey by road. . Thanks to 
the Great North air ambulance airlifted him from the scene of the accident to 
Newcastle on the other side of the country within 30 minutes.  Mr Clark sometimes 
wondered how things would have been if it wasn’t for the early intervention of the 
Great North Air Ambulance. 

The Great North Air Ambulance charity had to raise over £5 million per annum, to 
keep the helicopter in service, and there was no government funding for this.

There were a number of ways to support this charity whether a sponsored event, 
regular giving or playing the organisations prize draw, and the charity was always 
looking for locations for collection boxes.  Any members wishing to offer support to 
this charity should contact Mr Clark.

Finally, Mr Dew gave a speech on Appleby Horse Fair, which had taken place 
earlier this month.  It was the largest fair of its kind in Europe – and for a few days 
every year it almost completely swamped Appleby.

Last year it also impacted significantly on Kirkby Stephen bringing normal life to a 
complete standstill.   It was mayhem, with only two police constables working on 
patrol in this area.

Mr Dew was very critical of the police and the gypsy/traveller community and wrote 
letters and submitted articles that reflected the strength of local feeling.  This led to 
threats of legal action from human rights lawyers and some very annoyed senior 
officers at Carlton Hall.

During this fair this year Peter McCall, the Police and Crime Commissioner, and 
Michelle Skeer, the Chief Constable, made the necessary resources of money and 
personnel available, and put an extremely competent officer, Temporary Chief 
Superintendent Rob O’Connor in charge of the operation as Gold Command, which 
resulted in a complete transformation.

This year police officers were present in sufficient numbers to do their job and 
everyone felt safe, including the gypsies.  The RSPCA were on hand to ensure 
proper animal welfare, and residents in both Kirkby Stephen and Appleby were very 
grateful.

Back in November last year Mr Dew arranged to meet Billy Welch, the Shera Rom 
[head gypsy], in Kendal, at the local Costa, and together, over coffee, they agreed to 
make a fresh start.  In April he travelled over to the North East and had dinner with 
Billy and his wife at their home in Darlington.  Billy talked a lot about his family and 
the history of Appleby Fair going back generations

Later that same month a cultural evening was held in a pub in Kirkby Stephen and 
Billy told the hundred or so local people present all about the origins of the gypsy 

20



15

people, and why Appleby was so important to his people, it is a sacred place with 
profound spiritual significance and going there was like a pilgrimage.  

What a difference a year can make.  This year Mr Dew visited Mr Welsh on Fair Hill 
and sat in his caravan drinking tea.  

Mr Dew thanked Councillors Andy Connell and Pat Bell for encouraging him to set 
out on this journey of discovery.

The meeting ended at 2.30 pm

21



This page is intentionally left blank



CUMBRIA COUNTY COUNCIL

Minutes of a Meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday, 25
July 2019 at County Hall, Kendal at 10.00 am

PRESENT:

Mr SF Young (Leader)
Mrs A Burns
Mrs PA Bell
Ms D Earl
Mr KA Little
Mr DE Southward
Mr P Thornton
Mrs C Tibble
Mrs S Sanderson

Officers in attendance:

Chief Executive, Executive Director - People (Deputy Chief Executive),
Executive Director - Corporate, Customer and Community Services,
Acting Executive Director - Economy and Infrastructure, Director of
Finance (Section 151 Officer), Chief Fire Officer, Director of Public Health,
Leadership Support Officer - Labour Group, Leadership Support Officer -
Liberal Democrat Group, Professional Lead - Democratic Services,
Communications Manager and Group Solicitor/Deputy Monitoring Officer

 PART 1 ITEMS CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE
OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS

24 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

An apology for absence was received from Mrs J Willis.

25 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

There were no disclosures on interest made on this occasion.

26 MINUTES

RESOLVED,  that the minutes of the meeting held on 6 June 2019 be
signed by the Chair.

23

Agenda Item 7



2

27 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED,  that the press and public be not excluded for any items of
business on this occasion.

28 STATEMENTS BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL AND
CABINET MEMBERS

The Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport made an announcement
about the recently held North West Regional Construction Awards.
Cumbria County Council won 5 awards:-

Client of the Year - Infrastructure Recovery Programme
Health, Safety & Wellbeing Award  - Sandside Lodge SEN School,
Cumbria
Integration & Collaborative Working Award - Campus Whitehaven
Project of the Year – Civils - Campus Whitehaven
Sub-regional Project of the Year Award – Cumbria - Campus Whitehaven

Levens Primary School also won a runners up award.

The Cabinet Members asked that the Cabinet’s congratulations be
recorded to the Highways Team on their success at the award ceremony.

The Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Finance asked
Cabinet to join him in congratulating the County Council’s Finance Team
on the recent announcement from the County Council’s Auditors that
they intend to give an unqualified opinion on all areas of the County
Council’s Statement of Accounts 2018/19.  This is a tremendous
achievement and Cabinet thanked the Director of Finance and all her staff
for the hard work and effort it had taken to achieve this excellent
outcome.

The Auditor had also indicated his intention to issue an unqualified
opinion on the value for money conclusions for 2018/19.  This was a
tremendous achievement for the Council and thanks were expressed to
the Corporate Management Team.

29 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

There were no public questions, petitions or statements made at this
meeting.

24



3

30 COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFERS OF LAND AT NENTHEAD
MINES (EDEN) AND FRIZINGTON YOUTH CENTRE
(COPELAND) – TRANSFER OF THE FREEHOLD INTEREST AND
GRANT OF A LONG LEASE RESPECTIVELY.

Cabinet considered a report from the Acting Executive Director –
Economy and Infrastructure which proposed a freehold transfer of land at
Nenthead Mines, near Alston and also the grant of a long term lease for
Frizington Youth Centre.

Nenthead Mines Conservation Society (NMCS) had submitted an
expression of interest to the County Council for the land in 2016; the
expression of interest was accepted and NMCS were invited to submit a
business plan and case for the asset transfer.

A Business Case was subsequently submitted to the Council, considered
and recommended by Eden Local Committee in late 2018 with broad
terms agreed with NMCS in early 2019.

NMCS was a registered Charity and Charitable Incorporated Organisation,
which aimed to conserve Nenthead Mines and to educate the general
public about the history of mining, quarrying & smelting at Nenthead and
in the North Pennines. NMCS had acted as caretaker of the Site on behalf
of Cumbria County Council for a number of years (20+) following the
bankruptcy of the previous occupier.

The key benefit to NMCS was that this community asset transfer allowed
them to have the confidence to make longer term plans for and
commitments to the conservation of the Nenthead Mines site.  The
current arrangements gave NMCS no formal or lasting rights to utilize the
Site, and as such NMCS’s investment of time, effort and money in the
site was being done without any security that these investments would
yield a return in terms of better conservation, education and access to
the site in years to come.  Furthermore, ownership of the Site would
allow NMCS to apply for grants to finance larger scale conservation and
education projects at the Site.

In relation to Frizington Youth Centre, the Phoenix Youth Project (PYP)
had submitted an expression of interest to the County Council for the
building in late 2016; the expression of interest was accepted and PYP
were invited to submit a business plan and case for the asset transfer.

A Business Case was subsequently submitted to the Council, considered
and recommended by Copeland Local Committee in early 2018 with
broad terms agreed with PYP in early 2019.

25



4

Working with marginalised and disadvantaged young people aged 8 -19
years old in the deprived areas of Cleator Moor, Frizington, and Moor
Row, the Phoenix Youth Project would help to raise aspirations, develop
positive behaviour, encourage healthy lifestyles and reduce crime,
discriminatory and anti-social behaviour.

The Youth Project aimed to increase usage of the building by offering
access to a range of organisations through the day time and would bring
an increase of services and offers to the Frizington community.

PYP propose to completely renovate the fabric of the building at an
estimated cost of £215,000 over a number of years, safeguarding the
security of the delivery of services from the building while providing a
suitable base for other organisations to operate. Currently the building
was a purpose built youth centre, and needed to move towards being a
multi-use versatile space.

Cabinet was being asked to approve the agreement of the CAT on the
basis of a 25 year lease with the option to convert the leasehold to a
freehold once the PYP had evidenced it could sustain the ongoing revenue
and capital costs associated with the building. The lease will also include
provision for the Council to recover the property in appropriate
circumstances.

RESOLVED,  that Cabinet

(1)  agree the freehold transfer of the land Nenthead Mines for nil
consideration, and

(2)  agree the grant of a Long Term Lease (25 years) on a Full
Repairing and Insuring basis (FRI) of Frizington Youth Centre,
Frizington to Frizington Youth Project (Community Asset
Transfer/Transfer at Undervalue) for nil rent with an option to
transfer the freehold subject to conditions.

(3)  agree to delegate terms of those transfers to the Acting
Executive Director – Economy and Infrastructure.

31 PROPOSED EXPANSION OF MAYFIELD SCHOOL

Members had before them a report from the Executive Director – People
(Deputy Chief Executive) which dealt with the outcome of the
representation period triggered by the publication of notices by the
school governors of Mayfield School for the potential expansion of the
school. The representation period opened on 22 May 2019 and closed on
19 June 2019.

26



5

Recently Mayfield School had relocated to the new Whitehaven Campus,
and since then the governors of the school now propose to expand the
existing offer of 130 places up to 160 places, an increase which would
match the new accommodation and would require no additional expense.

Cumbria County Council’s Special Educational Needs and Disability
Services had been facing pressures arising from increased demand for
specialist education placements for a number of years. This increase in
demand was in line with a national trend due to advances in medical
technology and higher survival rates of children with complex needs and
increases in medical diagnoses for conditions such as autism. Significant
numbers of children were presenting with needs which could not be met
in mainstream schools, and the shortage of places within the county
meant that many have had to be educated elsewhere.

As a community special school, the governors had been able to carry out
the necessary consultation and publish their own statutory notices, but it
remained the responsibility of Cumbria County Council to make the final
decision on the proposal having considered any responses received
during the representation period.

Members noted that the governors had carried out a consultation
between 4 March and the 15 April 2019, and that 35 responses had been
received, 33 of which were in favour of the expansion (94%), 1 disagreed
and 1 did not know.

Following consideration of the outcome of the consultation at a full
governors meeting, it was decided to publish statutory notices starting a
period of representation from 22 May to 19 June 2019. There were no
responses during the representation period.

Members noted that both Allerdale and Copeland Local Committees had
been made aware of the governor’s proposals, and were consulted, but
that no comments had been received.

Cabinet acknowledged that 90% of the funding for the new build had
been paid for by the nuclear industry, and without this the school would
not have been built.  Members hoped the success of this scheme would
encourage other large industries to support similar projects in other
areas of the county.

RESOLVED,  that Cabinet agree to implement the proposals for the
expansion of Mayfield School.

27



6

32 AWARD OF CONTRACT TO AN OPEN FRAMEWORK
AGREEMENT FOR THE PROVISION OF SUPPORT AT HOME
SERVICE (HOME CARE)

Cabinet considered a report from the Executive Director – People (Deputy
Chief Executive), which sought approval to appoint providers who had
met or exceeded the minimum standards required, to the Open
Framework Agreement for the provision of Support at Home (Homecare)
Services from 30 August 2019.

The Framework had been designed to incorporate all existing Service
Provision Orders (SPOs) for Support at Home Services into one
overarching Framework Agreement.  All current providers were
individually invited to be part of the Framework.

The Framework was for 4 years, with no option to extend.

The Framework would operate using an Any Qualified Provider (AQP)
approach allowing multiple independent sector providers to join the
framework, with new providers being able to join the framework
throughout the term of the contract.  This would remove the need for any
potential risks of the Council contracting with Off-Framework Providers,
and the Council would not be restricted to those providers who joined
prior to contract implementation.

This approach would remove the arbitrary zone boundaries currently in
place and would allow all providers to deliver homecare across the
County.  Providers would not be restricted to their zone and could expand
(where appropriate) to meet the demands of the service.

All social care providers who want to deliver Homecare would be required
to meet the County Council’s minimum standards before being appointed
to the framework. This would make sure that all providers had
undertaken all relevant checks, prior to being added to the framework
and being able to offer to provide care packages.

The Cabinet Member for Health and Care Services commented that
demographically the population of Cumbria was ‘super-aging’ which
suggested that the demand for homecare would continue to increase.

RESOLVED,  that Cabinet

(1) approve establishment of the framework and the appointment
of the providers referenced in Appendix 1 of this report to the
Open Framework Agreement for the provision of Support at
Home Services (the “Framework”) from 2 September 2019;

(2) Cabinet delegate all future provider appointments to the
Framework (for providers that meet or exceed the published

28



7

tender criteria) to the Executive Director – Corporate, Customer
and Community Services.

Executive Director – People (Deputy Chief Executive)

Before the meeting closed Cabinet expressed their thanks to John
Macilwraith, who would be leaving the County Council at the end of
August to take up a new post in Sheffield.

Cabinet paid tribute to the Executive Director’s hard work and dedication,
and acknowledged that he was leaving Cumbria County Council in a much
stronger position that when he first joined the authority.  All members
wished Mr Macilwraith best wishes for the future.

The meeting ended at 10.35 am

29



This page is intentionally left blank



COUNTY COUNCIL 

Meeting date: 11 September 2019

From: Cabinet Member – Children’s Services

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD ANNUAL UPDATE 
2018/19

PART A - RECOMMENDATION OF CABINET MEMBER

For Members to note the report.

PART B – ADVICE OF CORPORATE DIRECTOR 

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This report provides an annual update to Council on the activity of the 
Corporate Parenting Board.

2.0 STRATEGIC PLANNING AND EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

2.1 This report meets the following strategic planning priority:

 To safeguard children, and ensure that Cumbria is a great place to 
be a child and grow up

2.2 The main Equality issues facing children looked after are: adequate 
local provision of support to children looked after with complex 
disabilities; culturally sensitive services that can support children of all 
ethnic backgrounds; support to children looked after who are LGBT+ 
and to foster carers and adopters around awareness of the Council’s 
policies in this area; action to tackle the overrepresentation of boys in 
the looked after system.

3.0 RECOMMENDATION

3.1 Council is recommended to note the report. 

31

Agenda Item 8



4.0 BACKGROUND

4.1 In December 2018 Cabinet agreed a new Children Looked After Strategy. 
The vision for the strategy was written by the Children in Care Council and it 
sets out how we will meet the young people’s aspirations.

4.2 Care Leavers have been a big priority for us. In December 2018 the Council 
had to publish its Care Leaver Offer. This sets out the support a young 
people in care can expect when they turn 18. It includes entitlements to 
things like Council Tax relief (which we negotiated with District Councils to 
implement), as well as entitlements in relation to personal finance, 
relationships, health and employment. We are continuing to work with a 
group of Care Leavers on developing the digital/online version of the offer, 
and are continuing to improve what is included in the offer.

4.3 In June we had a visit from the Department for Education appointed 
independent champion for care leavers. He has endorsed the work we have 
been doing as a Corporate Parenting Board and recommended that we 
expand the Board to include representation from the DWP, Police and other 
statutory bodies (we already have health). He also recommended that we 
develop a new Care Leaver Ambassador role, which the Board is currently 
developing. 

4.4 Another major priority for us is to increase the number of Foster Carers who 
are in-house. We have launched a major publicity campaign, and I am 
pleased to say that we are now seeing more new people become foster 
carers than leave, including many who have transferred from private foster 
caring agencies to the Council (Members should note that the main reason 
for Foster Carers leaving is retirement, and we are now replenishing the 
numbers who leave with new people). This shows the impact of Cabinet’s 
decision last year to increase substantially the money foster carers.

4.5 Our foster carers continue to be a real strength. We now have 3 foster carer 
representatives on the Corporate Parenting Board, and their contribution has 
done much to raise Member awareness of what it’s actually like for young 
people in care. 

4.6 An area we are looking to improve is our engagement with children looked 
after at the Board meetings. The meetings are currently held during the day, 
which means young people can only take part during school holidays. The 
most recent Board was held in July, and we had a session jointly with the 
Children in Care Council. They ran an exercise with the Board Members to 
raise their awareness of a range of issues they face. We are looking to 
reschedule the forward plan of meetings to coincide with school holiday 
periods to make sure we have young people in future meetings. 

4.7 The Board is also keen to make sure Cumbria is improving in its Ofsted 
journey and in August we had a targeted Ofsted visit. Children’s Scrutiny 
and Corporate Parenting Board, will be briefed of the outcome in September.

32



4.8 Finally, we are looking over the next year to see how we can support all 
Members of Council to support the Corporate Parenting agenda. We will be 
reviewing our approach to Local Committee Children in Care Council 
champions, and will seek to work more closely with Local Committees to 
help them understand how they could improve the lives of children looked 
after and care leavers.

4.9 Some of the key items the Board will be looking at over the next year 
include:

 Housing and homelessness

 Health, and emotional health and wellbeing

 Access to post-16 employment, education and training

 Educational attainment

 Child exploitation and children going missing.

5.0 OPTIONS

5.1 Council is recommended to note the report.

6.0 CONCLUSION

6.1 Children form the heart of what we do as a Council, and as Corporate 
Parents we have an extra responsibility for all children who come into our 
care. We want the same for them as any parent would for their child. While 
the Corporate Parenting Board can set the direction for how we should 
support children looked after and care leavers, all Members of Council can 
play a part in their local committees and elsewhere to be the champions for 
children looked after and care leavers.

Anne Burns – Cabinet Member for Children’s Services 
2 September 20/19

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 - Children Looked After Strategy

Electoral Division(s): All
*  Please remove whichever option is not applicable

Executive Decision No

Key Decision No

If a Key Decision, is the proposal published in the current Forward Plan? N/A

33



Is the decision exempt from call-in on grounds of urgency? No

N/AIf exempt from call-in, has the agreement of the Chair of the relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee been sought or obtained?

YesHas this matter been considered by Overview and Scrutiny?
If so, give details below.

N/AHas an environmental or sustainability impact assessment been 
undertaken?

NoHas an equality impact assessment been undertaken?

N.B. If an executive decision is made, then a decision cannot be implemented until the 
expiry of the eighth working day after the date of the meeting – unless the decision is 
urgent and exempt from call-in and the Head of Member Services and Scrutiny has 
obtained the necessary approvals.

PREVIOUS RELEVANT COUNCIL OR EXECUTIVE DECISIONS
[including Local Committees]

No previous relevant decisions

CONSIDERATION BY OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY

Overview and scrutiny contributed to the creation of the Children Looked 
After Strategy. Also the Board continues to hold joint sessions with Scrutiny 
on areas of shared interest – for instance in December there will be a joint 
session on Child Exploitation and children missing from home.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

No background papers

RESPONSIBLE CABINET MEMBER

Anne Burns, Cabinet Member for Children’s Services

REPORT AUTHOR

Contact: Joel Rasbash, Strategic Policy and Scrutiny Advisor
Tel No 07825103565 Email joel.rasbash@cumbria.gov.uk

34

mailto:joel.rasbash@cumbria.gov.uk


Cumbria County Council

Serving the people of Cumbria cumbria.gov.uk

Our Lives, 
Our Hopes, 
Our Future Cumbria 

Children Looked 
After Strategy – 

2019-23

Draft

My dream is to...

Remember don’t be afraid to speak out 
You are who you are for a reason.
Thinking about what happened in the past made me realise, 
How grateful I am  for who I am.
From a poem by Cumbrian child looked after

Appendix 1

35



2

Cumbria County Council

1. Our Vision
The vision for the strategy was developed by children 
looked after during the summer holidays in 2018. It 
says:

“We think children looked after in Cumbria need 
love and to have a good life and the chance to make 
friends.  Keeping the same social worker really 
helps.  Keep talking to us about contact with our 
family.  We need a good education.”

“Keep us safe, let us make our own decisions.  Help 
us live more freely.”

“We believe that children who are looked after in 
Cumbria need to be given the same adventures and 
opportunities as any other child, and have all the love 
they need to have a good life.  They should be cared 
for in a home where they are treated as part of the 
family.”

“Children looked after need love because if they did 
not have love they will not have a nice family.”

Children and Young People who are Looked 
After said:

If we could send a text to Children’s Services it 
would say: 

•	 We all want to feel safe and loved like other 
children and not ashamed of being in care

•	 We all want to feel safe inside and outside
•	 We want to be happy
•	 Not so many rules – Let me make some 

decisions
•	 Stop making us change to new social workers.  

Soon as I get used to one I get a new one.  
We’re going to run out!

•	 We don’t want to feel different to other children 
who are not in care

2. Why do we need a 
strategy? 
Cumbria County Council is committed to making 
sure that all people are healthy and safe. For 
children in Cumbria, this means that we support 
them to have the best possible start in life. In a small 
number of cases this means taking children into 
care, supporting them to be adopted, fostered or 
placed with wider family.

When this happens we want for every child what a 
loving parent would want for their own. This means 
that we need to set out what our plans are to make 
sure that every child in care can achieve the best 
they can, and be the person they want to be.

Not only does this apply to children in care, it 
also applies when a child leaves care. Therefore 
alongside this strategy we are publishing a Local 
Offer for Care Leavers. This will help care leavers 
see what advice, information and support is available 
to them up to the age of 25.

We recognise that the decision to take a child into 
care is a serious one.  We are keen in this strategy 
to set out how we plan to prevent children being in 
care, and, where possible, to ensure they can stay 
with their families. 

The Children Looked After Strategy describes what 
we want to achieve over the next 4 years and the 
action we will be taking to make sure all children 
looked after and care leavers get to maximise their 
potential.

36



3

Cumbria Children Looked After Strategy – 2019-23

3. Who is this strategy for?
The strategy is for all of Cumbria’s children looked after 
and care leavers. This includes everyone from birth to 
age 25 who continues to be supported by the Council 
and partner organisations. It includes children from 
Cumbria placed outside the county and focuses on all 
aspects of their lives. 

In June 2018 we had 690 children looked after, to give 
an idea of where they live, how they are placed and 
how they are getting on, we have produced the 1 in 
100 chart below. 

Who am I? 
I am someone who…. 
Likes reading; Likes animals; Likes eating; Likes fish; 
Likes fish and chips; Likes gaming; Likes being me; 
Is a good horse rider; Is a person; Is good at painting; 
Is good and nice; An individual; Unique; Like a super 
hero; Eats ham to keep me strong; Me; Beautiful;  
Funny; Is nice; Is fast; Is good at Lego Ninjago (go on 
adventures and get baddies)
From Blue Jam consultation session with children 
looked after about the strategy

37



Cumbria County Council

4

4. Where are we now?
Successes

Currently Cumbria is improving it’s services for 
children looked after. Our original Children Looked 
After Strategy (2015) set out our ambition to make 
improvements by 2018. This meant addressing parts 
of the service that were not working well and putting 
in place new systems and practices. For children the 
following things have improved since 2015:

•	 On coming into care a child has a Permanence 
Plan in place that says where they are going to go. 
This means less children are staying in the care 
system unnecessarily;

•	 Children have a much greater say in how they want 
to	be	treated	and	this	is	strongly	reflected	in	their	
reviews.  

•	 The voice of children is much stronger thanks 
to improvements in the use of advocacy and the 
Independent	Reviewing	Officer	service,	who	can	
speak up on behalf of the child;

•	 We are seeing more children in care being 
supported into university and have opened up 
access to apprenticeships and traineeships on a 
scale providing better future opportunities;

•	 We have more in-house foster carers and are 
building a stronger relationship between the foster 
carers and the Council;

•	 Children	in	care	are	benefitting	from	much	better	
management oversight, which means social 
workers are being better supported to provide the 
best possible care for the child.

Children’s Improvement Plan – getting to good

Following the 2017 Ofsted inspection, Cumbria moved 
from a rating of Inadequate to Requires Improvement. 
There were many aspects of the service which were 
rated as Good, and the Children’s Improvement Plan 
sets out what we need to do to make sure that we 
reach a rating of Good or Outstanding in future. The 
actions from the Improvement Plan have been included 
in this strategy. 

Signs of Safety

In delivery of the strategy we have adopted the Signs 
of Safety model. This is a particular method of working 
with children and families at the earliest point when 
they come into contact with our services. Using Signs 
of Safety will enable us to build a more relationship and 
solution focused approach. It help us to work more in 
partnership with children and their families/networks 
and	enable	them	to	find	their	own	solutions.

CLA Recovery Plan

While we celebrate the progress we have made, we 
still have a number of challenges if we are to reach our 
goal of being an outstanding local authority for children 
looked after and our care leavers.

High numbers of children looked after: Our number 
of children looked after remains above the average for 
local authorities with similar populations to Cumbria.  In 
June 2018 we had:

•	 690 children looked after
•	 294 in foster care (own provision)
•	 10 in Cumbria County Council residential care
•	 78 in other arrangements placed for adoption or 

placed with parents for example
•	 308 were in externally provided placements (95 in 

residential homes and 213 through Independent 
Fostering Agencies).

•	 There has been a decrease in children under 1 
year’s old coming into care, but an increase in 10-
15 year olds, who are harder to place. 

The spread of children looked after across Cumbria is 
also a challenge. This is shown with the rate of children 
looked after per 10,000 population (the average for the 
North	West	is	91	per	10,000).	Looking	at	these	figures	
there are large gaps between the rates of children 
looked after in Barrow and Copeland than Eden and 
South Lakeland, even when accounting for rurality and 
differences in population:

•	 Allerdale 160 (88.4 per 10,000 children)
•	 Copeland 130 (99.6 per 10,000 children)
•	 Carlisle 150 (70.5 per 10,000 children)
•	 Eden 20 (21.8 per 10,000 children)
•	 Barrow 150 (111.9 per 10,000 children)
•	 South Lakeland 67 (38.1 per 10,000 children). 

38



Cumbria Children Looked After Strategy – 2019-23

5

Sufficiency of placements within Cumbria: 
Sufficiency	of	placements	is	about	there	being	the	right	
amount of foster placements and specialist placements 
for children looked after in the local area. Throughout 
much of the country Councils are struggling to meet 
their	sufficiency	requirements,	resulting	in	more	
children being placed out of their local area. This is 
happening in Cumbria and has been driven by the 
increased complexity of the needs of children entering 
the system. Across the North West this can be seen 
in terms of the increased numbers of purchased 
placements in the North West from 571 in 2015 to 836 
in 2018.

To address these challenges, the CLA Recovery Plan 
has been developed to:

•	 Increase availability of local residential placements.
•	 Increase number of in-house foster carers.
•	 Explore the market for a range of supported and 

independent living options for 16 18 year olds 
including increase use of Homestays.

•	 Provide good management oversight of 
placements. 

•	 Strengthen the role of the Independent Reviewing 
Officer	to	provide	oversight	and	challenge.

5. Where do we want to be?
We want to be known as one of the best local 
authorities for supporting our children looked after and 
care leavers. To achieve this ambition, we need not 
only to address the challenges we face, but to set out a 
positive vision based on better outcomes.

The Government have produced new guidance on 
Corporate Parenting Principles that local authorities 
should follow when making plans for children looked 
after and care leavers. 

These principles are:

1. To act in the best interests, and promote the 
physical and mental health and well-being, of 
children looked after and care leavers. (Best 
Interests)

2. To encourage children looked after and care 
leavers to express their views, wishes and feelings. 
(Voice of the child and young person)

3. To take into account the views, wishes and feelings 
of children looked after and care leavers. (Voice of 
the child and young person)

4. To help children looked after and care leavers gain 
access to, and make the best use of, services 
provided by the local authority and its relevant 
partners. (Access to services) 

5. To promote high aspirations, and seek to secure 
the best outcomes, for children looked after and 
care leavers. (Aspirations and outcomes) 

6. For children looked after and care leavers to 
be safe, and for stability in their home lives, 
relationships and education or work. (Safe and 
stable)

7. To prepare children looked after and care leavers 
for adulthood and independent living. (Preparation 
for adulthood).

In making this strategy we worked with children looked 
after, care leavers, our staff and our elected Members 
about where we want to be. 

To act in the person’s best interests and promote 
their physical and emotional health and well being

Children looked after have been very clear that 
emotional health and mental health is one of their top 
priorities. They would like to see an improved CAMHS 
service, better information about what is available and 
for us to continue to provide online support so they get 
instant help.  

39



Cumbria County Council

6

Outcome: We will review the fast track arrangements 
into CAMHS and ensure Children looked after and 
care leavers will have better access to and experience 
of emotional health and wellbeing and mental health 
support across the system. The impact of this will be 
seen by:

•	 Smooth transitions for people accessing CAMHS 
services into adult mental health services.

•	 Early help and intervention around emotional 
health and wellbeing is consistent for all children 
looked after, and that there is effective signposting 
and referral to a range of health and therapeutic 
support where CAMHS is not appropriate.

Outcome: We will work with children looked after, 
foster carers and care leavers to uptake opportunities 
for sport and physical exercise, recreation and healthy 
lifestyles (including food). The impact of this will be 
seen by:

•	 Increased uptake of leisure passes as a result of 
this being in the Care Leaver Offer;

•	 Children looked after and care leavers participating 
in a mixture of targeted and universal activity to 
improve	physical	health,	fitness	and	active	leisure.

Voice of the child and young person

Children looked after have told us how important it is 
to have people who are trustworthy and do not put 
them under pressure. That people speak to them 
about the good things and not just when there is an 
emergency. They have also said that they do not like 
being asked the same questions again and again, and 
that it is really important that professionals treat them 
with respect, and understand the stress caused by 
changing appointments and being late.

Outcome: There will be a stable and meaningful 
relationship between every child looked after and the 
team that supports them. This will include the social 
worker, carers, foster carers and partners involved in 
the child’s life – including school, health, third sector 
and others involved. Children and young people are 
engaged in the role out of Signs of Safety and can say 
whether it is making a difference to them. The impact 
of this will be seen by:

•	 Children’s plans are simple, accessible and show 
the child or young person has ownership of them;

•	 There is evidence of meaningful direct work with 
the child or young person which informs planning, 
and is based on their life story. 

Outcome: Young people will be able to tell us how 
things are improving. The impact of this will be seen by:

•	 Young people directly reporting that the voice of 
the child is being heard and acted on.

•	 Greater participation in Children in Care Councils, 
Care Leaver Forums and through a variety of 
channels including greater use of digital support.

•	 Our elected Councillors (or Members) would be 
able to promote the interests of children looked 
after and care leavers in their local communities 
(this could be done by promoting foster carer 
campaigns, encouraging local businesses to 
provide work experience opportunities and let 
them know about apprenticeship schemes, and 
generally raising questions about whether people 
and organisations are thinking about children 
looked after and care leavers, or could do more for 
them).

Access to services

Children looked after and care leavers want to have 
access to a full range of services, from transport, 
leisure, advice and information, and access to cultural, 
sporting and physical activity.

Outcome: Children looked after and care leavers 
benefit	from	access	to	a	wide	range	of	support	from	
district councils, health partners and the third sector. 
For Care Leavers this will be published in the Care 
Leaver Offer. The impact of this will be seen by:

•	 District councils, NHS and third sector 
organisations contributing to the Care Leaver Offer.

•	 Greater involvement in sports, culture, and social 
activity, for example access to leisure passes.

•	 Better provision of advice and information.
•	 Financial support and relief, i.e. Council Tax relief 

for care leavers, and similar kinds of support 
targeted at foster carers.

•	 Support to access transport to get about, i.e. 
through travel passes or additional support in 
learning to travel independently i.e. for young 
people with a learning disability or autism).

40



Cumbria Children Looked After Strategy – 2019-23

7

Aspirations and outcomes

Children looked after and care leavers have highlighted 
the importance of about having positive aspirations 
for their future. In particular they wanted to be able 
to access a wide range of post-16 learning, training 
and work opportunities, including universities and 
apprenticeships. 

Outcome: We will develop an Aspiration Programme 
that will provide a joined up pathway towards people 
having a positive destination at 18 and beyond 
in relation to employment, education, training or 
participation in society. This will include a scheme of 
work experience, traineeships and apprenticeships, so 
that all children looked after and care leavers have a 
clear plan to ensure that they can access employment, 
learning and training suited to their aspirations. The 
impact of this will be seen by:

•	 Children are supported to think about their future in 
terms of learning and employment and a plan is put 
into place to help them reach their aspirations.

•	 Increased rate of care leavers in employment, 
education and training up to 25 years old.

•	 Increase in rates of children looked after and care 
leavers accessing work experience, traineeships 
and apprenticeships as well as Higher Education.

•	 All departments of the County Council offering 
work experience, traineeships and apprenticeships 
to children looked after and care leavers.

•	 Children looked after and care leavers actively 
supported to access work experience, traineeships 
and apprenticeships across the public sector. 

•	 Increase in private sector employers signing up 
to the Care Leaver Charter and offering work 
experience, traineeships and apprenticeships to 
children looked after and care leavers.

•	 Adult and Community Education supporting care 
leavers up to age 25 to meet level 1 and 2 skills 
gaps.

•	 All care leavers who are not in employment, 
education	and	training,	benefit	from	positive	
opportunities to participate through volunteering, 
social activities and do not experience isolation.

•	 Young parents as care givers who are not 
accessing education, employment and training do 
not feel stigmatised and are supported to plan for 
their future in terms of education, employment and 
training.

Safe and stable

Children looked after clearly say they value their 
placements with foster carers, and see the social 
worker as an important person in their life. They value 
their siblings and close family, but also their friends 
and their pets. Having a secure home life, knowing 
the people involved in their care and being respected 
are vitally important to them. Tracking placements 
and making sure that all plans address this is vital in 
supporting stability.

Outcome: Children looked after will experience less 
moves,	live	closer	to	where	they	grew	up,	and	benefit	
from the loving support of foster carers, who are 
supported by the Council. The impact of this will be 
seen by:

•	 Children report feeling safe and being well-looked 
after.

•	 Increased number of in-house foster carers.
•	 Use of Signs of Safety to strengthen the 

relationship between the foster carer and social 
worker in planning more jointly with the child.

•	 Foster-carers supported and trained so they can 
deal with the complex needs of children, reducing 
the risk of a placement breakdown.

•	 Foster-carer networks stronger and having more 
impact on policy.

•	 Foster-carers feel more supported by the services 
and through peer networks.

•	 Children are placed according to their assessed 
needs, and that matching with foster carers, 
contact and placement support are effective.

Outcome: Children placed with extended family and 
‘connected people’ will receive a high standard of 
support. The impact of this will be seen by:

•	 Children say their social worker supports them 
well when they are living with extended family and 
friends.

•	 Where a child is placed with their family there 
will be a review to see if the child still needs to be 
looked after and whether other legal options are 
more appropriate. 

Outcome: Children at risk of child exploitation will 
be safer and services will be better able to prevent 
children at risk. The impact of this will be seen by:

•	 Children at risk of exploitation and their families 
and carers get the support they need.

•	 Practitioners	confident	in	identifying	children	at	risk	
and working effectively with them to prevent harm.

41



Cumbria County Council

8

Outcome: Children looked after and care leavers 
will get the same quality of service that respects their 
diversity and identity. This means culturally sensitive 
services that respond to diversity in relation to gender, 
sexuality, transgender, ethnicity, faith and disability. 
This will mean that Equality is embedded across the 
whole delivery of this strategy. The impact of this will be 
seen by:

•	 Effective training and support in place for foster 
carers and professionals on Equality issues.

•	 Participation	activities	reflective	the	diversity	of	
children looked after and care leavers.

•	 That there is the cultural infrastructure in Cumbria 
to provide support around Disability, LGBT 
and BME groups, especially in relation to the 
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeker Programme 
(UASC). This can be done through promotion of 
foster caring recruitment among BME and LGBT 
groups, working with AWAZ and other community 
infrastructure organisations that reach minority 
groups and mapping local resources including 
places of worship, Halal shops and other support. 

Preparation for adulthood

Care leavers have fed back their priorities in terms of 
relationships,	housing,	managing	their	finances	and	
access to education, work and training. 

Outcome: We have produced a Care Leaver Offer that 
lets care leavers know what support they can receive 
around health, accommodation, relationships and 
social participation, access to training and employment 
and	support	around	finances.	This	has	been	put	
together by the Council, NHS, District Councils and 
we will continue to add to the Care Leaver Offer. The 
impact of this will be seen by:

•	 Care leavers given support to take time to discover 
more about themselves and what they want from 
life when making decisions.

•	 Care leavers feel socially and emotionally 
connected to friends, family and the community, 
reducing loneliness and promoting good wellbeing.

•	 Increases in care leavers living in suitable 
accommodation.

•	 Care	leavers	managing	their	finances	and	
benefitting	from	good	financial	support	and	advice.

•	 Decreases in care leavers involved in the criminal 
justice system.

•	 Care leavers reporting satisfaction with the 
support they are receiving in their transition to 
independence.

•	 Care	leavers	feeling	confident	to	be	open	with	
friends, employers and others about being able to 
be open about their past without fear of stigma.

Outcome: Care Leavers who require adult social 
care	and	specialist	health	services,	will	benefit	from	
a smooth transition from children’s services, and 
continue to receive the support they need. The impact 
of this will be seen by:

Effective transition plans in place for all children, based 
on funding secured and in place, and early involvement 
of transitions workers.
Young people reporting they have been involved in 
their transition plan, understand the options and how 
they will be supported.
Parents and carers report positive experiences in being 
engaged in the shaping of the plans.
Transition points into post 18 services are well 
managed and part of a clear pathway, with young 
people and families feeling that they were well informed 
and supported into new services and decisions were 
clear and timely.

42



Cumbria Children Looked After Strategy – 2019-23

9

6. How will we get there?
While Cumbria County Council has lead responsibility 
for the strategy, making it happen will involve health 
services, district councils, police, schools and third 
sector organisations playing a crucial part. We will 
also be working with the Local Enterprise Partnership 
and employers to make sure that the needs of children 
looked after and care leavers are being addressed in 
the Cumbrian economy.

7. Delivering the plan
The Strategy will be delivered over 4 years. There will 
be an annual Delivery Plan setting out what we will be 
doing and when, with actions informed by what children 
and young people have told us and the Equality Impact 
Assessment.

The Corporate Parenting Board will be responsible for 
making sure that services are delivering against the 
strategy. They will receive quarterly a report updating 
progress. They will also carry out an annual ‘deep dive’ 
on the Equality Impact Assessment.

Every other year there will be a RESPECT assessment 
that will look at how we are doing against the standards 
they have set. The RESPECT assessment is led by 
young researchers with direct experience of care and 
care leaving. They interview senior managers, front line 
staff, foster carers and consult with children (including 
children placed out of county). They will present their 
report to Corporate Parenting Board. 

43



Cumbria County Council

10

Who am I?

•	 I am someone who…. 
   Likes reading 
 Likes animals
 Likes eating
												 Likes	fish
												 Likes	fish	and	chips
            Likes gaming
            Likes being me
            Is a good horse rider
            Is a person
            Is good at painting
            Is  good and nice
            An individual
            Unique
            Like a super hero
            Eats ham to keep me strong
            Me
            Beautiful   
            Funny
            Is nice
            Is fast
            Is good at Lego Ninjago (go on adventures and  
 get baddies)           

What does safe look/feel like?

•	 Like a vault
•	 A blanket
•	 Happy
•	 Friendly 
•	 Building
•	 No stress
•	 School
•	 Nice
•	 Warm
•	 Home
•	 Protected by superheroes
•	 Having my 3 dogs
•	 Sleep
•	 Feel peace
•	 Calm
•	 Home Is love, holidays, carers, sister, me, Greece, 

Pizza, dogs, friends, trips to Energi, gymnastics 
iphones, emojis

Things I want to do

•	 I want to be Kai from Lego Ninjago, get the bad 
guys and look smart

•	 Get a job
•	 Go home
•	 Build a house
•	 Be a lifeguard
•	 Protect people
•	 Go to McDonald’s
•	 Be a foster carer

Who can help me do what I want to do?

•	 Myself
•	 Fireman
•	 Friends
•	 Brother/siblings
•	 Social Workers
•	 Foster carer
•	 Pets
•	 School
•	 Family

Where have I been?

•	 Holidays
•	 Different homes
•	 Different schools
•	 Legoland
•	 Swimming
•	 Horse riding lessons
•	 Home

Where do I want to go?

•	 To get a career
•	 Bakery
•	 Building site
•	 Gymnastics classes
•	 Singing

Appendix 1 
Blue Jam – 21, 22, 23 August – Children and Young People – 
Looking at issues around the Children Looked Strategy
(Photos and copies of art work/ story work to follow)

44



Cumbria Children Looked After Strategy – 2019-23

11

Who can help me to get where I’m going?

•	 People who know about jobs
•	 Mum
•	 Carers
•	 Training people
•	 Gymnastics people
•	 Someone who celebrates with me
•	 Children’s	Rights	Officer
•	 Mum and Dad
•	 Fireman
•	 Friends
•	 Brother
•	 Siblings
•	 Foster carer
•	 Side kick – like a super hero
•	 Me
•	 Dad
•	 My dogs – they keep me happy

What tools do I need on my journey?

•	 Roof over my head
•	 Friends
•	 Dancing
•	 Food
•	 Someone to support us
•	 Chance to have some new experiences
•	 Money
•	 Music
•	 Career
•	 People to celebrate birthdays and Christmas with
•	 Clothes
•	 Holidays
•	 Love
•	 Someone to talk to
•	 My 3 dogs
•	 Best friend
•	 Mam and Dad
•	 Side Kick like a super hero
•	 Super hero gadgets that I need – Sidekick to help 

me out
 - Grapple hook to get you about and keep you  
  from falling
 - Car – Need to get around
 - Invisibility spray in case don’t want to be seen
 - Utility belt – Something to protect yourself
 - Shield for protection
 - Ability to save yourself

Ideas for vision:
Key words –  Family, Normal, Safe

Suggestions 
We think children looked after in Cumbria need love 
and to have a good life and the chance to make 
friends.  Keeping the same social worker really helps.  
Keep talking to us about contact with our family.  We 
need a good education.

Keep us safe, let us make our own decisions.  Live 
more freely, not so many rules.

We believe that children who are looked after in 
Cumbria need to be given the same adventures , 
opportunities and all the love they need to have a good 
life.  They should be cared for in a home where they 
are treated as part of the family.

Children looked after need love because if they did not 
have love they will not have a nice family.

Children should be offered a nice family and they 
should be treated not any differently and have the 
confidence	to	be	the	same	as	normal	children	and	to	
let them so the same activities as normal people but to 
not be treatment and differently or not allowed access 
to what normal people have so therefore they can have 
the ability to be with family and see family and friends.

If Children in Care could send a text to Children’s 
Services what would it say?

•	 We all want to feel safe and loved like other 
children and not ashamed of being in care

•	 We all want to feel safe inside and outside
•	 We want to be happy
•	 Not so many rules – Let me make some decisions
•	 Stop making us change to new social workers.  

Soon as I get used to one I get a new one. We’re 
going to run out!

•	 We don’t want to feel different to other children who 
are not in care

Title
Would like those writing the document to suggest some 
titles that children and young people could chose from.

45



Cumbria County Council

12

Appendix 2

 
46



Cumbria Children Looked After Strategy – 2019-23

13

 

47



Cumbria County Council

14

 

48



Cumbria Children Looked After Strategy – 2019-23

14 15

 

49



Cumbria County Council

16

The Dark Shadows 

Batman was playing electric guitar in the Bat Cave, Alfred the butler is very sick and getting upset with the 
noise Batman is making. The Black Ninja has come round for some Lobster Thermidore with Batman and 
sees Alfred being upset. The black Ninja says to Batman, “Please play your guitar quietly.”  

Batman simply says back, “I’m Batman.”  

The Black Ninja is frustrated that Batman isn’t listening to him. The Black Ninja tries again to give Batman 
some help and suggests they go with White Ninja and Green Ninja to the music festival.  

Alfred thinks this is a good idea as he is getting tired of Batman’s music. Alfred loves Batman a lot and has 
looked after him since he was six so sometimes gets a bit tired and needs help. 

So Batman, Black Ninja, White Ninja and Red Ninja head to the Market Festival of music. They travel on 
Green Ninja’s dragon, Mec, to get there.  

When they arrive at the festival, Batman gets on the stage to sing and play the guitar, but the technical stuff 
breaks and everyone realises that Batman is lip syncing. The crowd boo and throw tomatoes and chase 
Batman through the streets. Snakes fly out of nowhere and cover the stage, and people run back to their 
homes. 

The Batcopter and the rescue helicopter come to rescue everyone and take them back to the Bat Cave. 
Batman is upset and is not hitting his punching bag as hard as usual and a tear is rolling down his cheek. 
The Ninjas try to help Batman and say, “Don’t cry. You are the strongest person we know. Please don’t be 
embarrassed.” 

The Green and Black Ninjas go and get Alfred to cheer Batman up. Alfred is feeling better and is happy to 
see Batman. Alfred gives Batman a huge hug and makes him an extra big Lobster Thermidore. Alfred tells 
Batman he is proud of him and how he managed  
the situation.  

Batman says to Alfred, “I know I don’t always act  
like it, but I really love you and feel happy and proud  
that you are looking after me.”  

Alfred says to Batman, “I am so lucky to look after  
you. You are like my own son and I am happy you  
are here.”

50



Cumbria Children Looked After Strategy – 2019-23

16 17

The Trouble 
Chapter 1 

Ryan is  normal person with a wonderful heart. He has a girlfriend 
called Beauty who used to go out with Jack, but the reason why Beauty 

dumped Jack is because Jack bullied Ryan and Beauty didn’t like it. 
It started on a sunny day when Ryan and Beauty were kissing. Then 

out of nowhere Ryan grabbed out a ring and proposed to Beauty. They 
were on a romantic date having dinner.

Jack was spying on them and saw the proposal. He decided to kidnap 
Beauty because he still loved her. Ryan says he is going to the toilet 

and Jack decides it’s a good time to trick Beauty into following him. He 
says that her parents want her, so she follows him. Ryan sees what is 

happening and sneaks behind them. Jack says her parents are at 
Jack’s house.

Back at Jack’s house, Jack put a love potion on Beauty. She falls 
asleep. Ryan, who has seen everything, comes out and throws a chair 
at Jack, but he dodges it. Meanwhile, Beauty wakes up and says she 

loves Jack over Ryan.
Ryan cries and runs away.

Chapter 2
Angus, Ryan’s older brother and Jack’s reluctant friend, asks why Ryan 

is upset. Ryan tells Angus what has happened. Angus is really angry 
and says it has to stop, Þrst me and now Beauty. He tells their parents 

Max and Belle what has happened and they all go to Jack’s house. 
When they arrive Jack is about to propose to Beauty. Ryan pushes 

Jack out of the way and Angus uses his cleverness to Þnd out how to 
remove the love potion from the Beauty. He realises a chocolate chip 
cookie will cure her. They call Jack’s parents who come and take him 
away. Ryan and Beauty Þnally get married and go on a honeymoon to 

Spain.

51



Cumbria County Council

18

 

A Week in Spain

Once there was going to be a week in Spain for one person named Maximus 
Jerimiah. He goes to Spain and Þnds there are lots of aliens there. One alien is 

very inventive. He invents a weather controller because Spain is too hot for 
him. An evil mastermind makes a machine to give him low conÞdence on 

purpose because then he knows the alien wonÕt succeed. One of the humans, 
Maximus Jerimiah, helps the alien to defeat the evil mastermind by altering the 
mind machine into a shrinking machine instead. They shrink the mastermind. 

Then they end up making the weather machine and it turns the small 
mastermind to ice. The alien feels good about himself.

The end.
Oh by the way the alien eats underpants.

52



Cumbria Children Looked After Strategy – 2019-23

18 19

Murder Mystery: 
The Mysterious Murder 
 
Scene One: A Street 
(Emlinor and Henel stand upstage left, scheming. Downstage right, 
Mr. Jeffries and Mr. Sniegelheimer stand innocently. Jeffries and 
Sniegelheimer are played by a kitchen roll and a box.) 

Emlinor: We’re so poor. 

Henel: I’m totally broke. If only we could get some money fast. 

Emlinor: Seems to me, the best way to get quick cash is to kill some 
rich people. 

Henel: Where would we find some? 

Emlinor:What about those two over there? They’re wearing a lot of 
gold and diamonds. 

Henel:Let’s go make friends. 

(Emlinor and Henel cross to Sniegelheimer and Jeffries. They shake 
hands, smiling, and put their arms round their new friends’ 
shoulders.) 

Emlinor: Sniegelheimer did you say? Funny you should mention 
that! My uncle was a Sniegelheimer. In fact we come from a 
long line of Sniegelheimers. The Minnesota Sniegelheimers, 
if you’ve heard of them? 

Henel: Why Mr. Jeffries what beautiful sapphires you’re wearing. 
You have such a lot of gold on your head! 

Emlinor: Why don’t we continue this conversation somewhere more comfortable—like this dark and threatening alley for 
instance? 

(They cross upstage left, leading their rich victims. Once they get to the alley, it’s no more Mr. Nice Guy.) 

Henel: Give me all your jewels! 

Emlinor:You don’t wanna give me your cash? I’ll just have to murder you then. 

(Poor Mr. Jeffries and Mr. Sniegelheimer are thrown to the ground.) 

Emlinor:Quick, take all their diamonds!  

Henel:Let’s get out of here! [Exit stage left, running.] 

[Enter Sokkie, stage right. When she sees the bodies, she gasps in shock but immediately begins CPR] 

[Enter Abram, upstage right, dancing and singing. He sees Sokkie sat above the body of Mr. Sniegelheimer and thinks the worst.] 

Abram: Hello? 999?  

Sheriff  [Upstage right, in a chair] 999. What is your emergency? 

Abram: There’s a woman here, and she’s just murdered two people! 

Skokie  [Jumps up, shouting and waving her arms to get Abram’s attention] I didn’t kill anyone! I was trying to save them! 

Abrams [Backing against the wall, too scared to listen] Now she’s threatening me! Please, hurry! 

Sheriff  [Instantly on the scene] You’re both under arrest. 

Abrams  [Being handcuffed] Wait, what?? Why am I under arrest? 

Skokie  [As he handcuffs her] I was trying to save them! 

Sheriff: You were both seen with the dead bodies. Now go to jail! [He leads them off, upstage. Henel and Emlinor, watching from 
far stage left, laugh and point sneakily.] 

53



Cumbria County Council

20

Scene Two: That Night in Prison 

[Sokkie and Abram are in tiny prison cells, played by tables. They are shouting that they are innocent.] 

Sheriff: Shut up, it’s bedtime. Go to sleep! [He bangs on the bars.] I’m not going to acknowledge you anymore. 

Sokkie: Please, please, I’m innocent. Please acknowledge me! 

Abram:I shouldn’t be here. This isn’t fair. 

Sheriff:Be quiet. Nobody cares. 

Scene Three: The Street, the Next Day 

Henel: Good morning officer! I’m glad to see you arrested the murderers. 

Sheriff: Yes, they are safe behind bars. 

Henel: And I do feel safer. 

Emlinor: Allow me to say how very much I admire the law enforcement profession. [Shakes his hand] Anyway, we innocent people 
had better be going. [They exit stage right] 

Sheriff: I need to investigate. [Chooses someone in the audience.] You there, did you see anything at all yesterday?  

[He questions them about the murder: what did you see? Who did it? What did they look like? He turns around and sees Emlinor and 
Henel watching. He runs after them, chases them and catches them. He puts them in jail, and Sokkie and Abram jump out, singing and 
dancing.] 

“I’m Free” 

We’re free, we’re free 
We’re really free now! 

Now they caught the baddies! 
I’m free, I’m free 

54



Cumbria Children Looked After Strategy – 2019-23

20 2155



Cumbria County Council

2256



Cumbria Children Looked After Strategy – 2019-23

22 2357



Cumbria County Council

24

Thunderstorm
Rebecca is scaredy of scaredy cats. Her 

imagination sometimes scares her. For example 
she imagines monsters under the bed, dragons, 

sharks and thunderstorms (but she likes them too).
One day Rebecca was stuck in a thunderstorm and 

she lost her phone and her favourite teddy. She 
tried to Þnd it but it was nowhere to be seen. So 

she went even further into the thunderstorm. She 
lost her home because it blew away. Then the 

thunderstorm stopped and the phone and teddy hit 
her in the head. She hugged the teddy really hard 
but her phone had smashed. So she went to her 
friend’s house and rang her mum and asked for a 

new phone please. 
She is now more conÞdent because she faced her 

fears and got a new house.

58



Cumbria Children Looked After Strategy – 2019-23

24 25

Appendix 3 
A New Life!!!

September	the	first,	my	first	day	at	school
All alone with no one beside me
Except for my family
But they’re not to be seen

All my friends went separate ways
Left me stranded with nowhere to go
Except into this room full of people
But there’s no one I know

All alone, nowhere to go
No friends or family beside me
No one here besides me

I try to make friends
With the person beside me
But they just turned from me
I tried again, on the other side
But this time they turned on me

All alone, nowhere to go
No friends or family beside me
No one here besides me

Someone walked up to me
and for the right reasons
they were just like me
no friends or family
then we became best of friends
we knew this wasn’t the end

I’m not alone, I have somewhere to go
I’m not scared, cuz I have friends and family
My new friend’s here beside me

59



Cumbria County Council

26

Appendix 4 
When you’re not in care
You’re alone most of the time
You feel different and are treat different
You’re left out, you’re not included.
You’ve got no one to run to. 
You feel alone. 

School’s your only hope
There’s nothing to fear
Because it’s your happy place
You’re not in trouble
For being the way you are

I told my friend how I was
And realised I should tell an adult. 
My teacher was worried for me
And asked me what was going on 
And I spoke out
And showed I had a voice
Things changed.

Social services got involved
And made things more comfortable
With family, helped them 
Work on their issues and take responsibility
They weren’t willing to take this on for me

My	social	worker	helped	me	find	a	better	family
It	wasn’t	great	at	first
I	didn’t	fit	in.
I	didn’t	know	how	to	fit	in.
Things weren’t working for me.

I got moved again, to have a better life
But once again, it never worked out
Another six weeks went by, 
But they never treat me like family

So I moved once again with more hope
At	the	first	sight	I	knew	
Things were going to work out so greatly.
We got to know each other,
Treat each other like family,
Because it was meant to be.

We went to exciting places
That made us feel at home
Then settle in, and things went our way
The past was rough
But not to be thought of

Because this is a new life
To achieve and get bigger in life.

Remember don’t be afraid to speak out 

You are who  you are for a reason

Thinking about what happened, in the past made me 
realise how greatful I am  for who I am .

60



Cumbria Children Looked After Strategy – 2019-23

26 2761



C
C

C
 J

/N
 2

39
33

62



COUNTY COUNCIL 

Meeting date: 11 September 2019

From: Chair of Scrutiny Management Board

SCRUTINY UPDATE REPORT

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1.1 This report updates Full Council on the work of Scrutiny and any 
issues and developments that have occurred since the last meeting of 
Full Council. 

2.0 ISSUES FOR FULL COUNCIL

2.1 Members are asked to:

 Note the work programme presented as Appendix One and recent 
activity undertaken by Scrutiny set out in the report.

3.0 BACKGROUND

3.1 In this report the Chair of Scrutiny Management Board would like to advise 
Members of the following issues:

3.2 Scrutiny Work Programme 

3.3 The current Work Programme is presented as Appendix 1 which Members 
are asked to note. 

3.4 Scrutiny Advisory Boards have been considering the following matters 
recently:

 Scrutiny Management Board met on 28 June when they considered 
progress with recommendations made by Scrutiny over the past two 
years as well as an update on management of absence. Members 
agreed to undertake a one day task and finish piece of work to 
explore the broader organisational development activity being 
undertaken to address absence and also consider in detail with staff 
from the service the absence rates in Provider Services. 

63

Agenda Item 9



 The Communities and Place Board last met on 7 June when they 
discussed Highways Permits, National Waste Policy and Section 106 
Agreements. 

 The Children and Young Peoples Board met on 30 May and focused 
on the SEND inspection.

 Health Scrutiny met on 18 July and received an update on HealthCare 
for the Future, the future of mental health provision, and orthodontics.

 The Adults Board last met on 25 June and considered the Promoting 
Independence Programme and Safeguarding of Adults.

 The LEP Scrutiny Board met on 23rd August for a development day. 
This included discussion about potential topics for the work 
programme. They will next meet on 16 September.

3.5 Strategic Planning

3.6 A finance briefing open to all non-executive Members took place on 29th 
July. Members received a presentation on the policy context and financial 
position of the Council. Discussion took place with the Chief Executive and 
Director of Finance. Scrutiny expect to be engaged further in November as 
the work on the budget progresses.

3.7 Update from the Performance Working Group

3.8 The Scrutiny Performance Working Group last met on 3 July when the 
Quarter 4 Performance Monitoring Report was considered. Members 
considered progress with key activity being undertaken by the Economy and 
Infrastructure cluster. They will consider progress with delivery of the 
Children Looked Recovery Plan at their next meeting in October.

3.9 Enterprise workshop session for Non-Executive Members

3.10 A workshop for all non-executive Members took place on 29 July in Kendal. 
This was well attended. The purpose of the session was to provide context 
to the work in this area, update on activities already underway, outline the 
development of an Enterprise Framework and the proposed content of this.  
Members had the opportunity to provide feedback on the Guiding Principles 
in the draft Enterprise Framework and discuss the future opportunities for 
the Council.  The views shared will be used to shape the final version of the 
Enterprise Framework and proposals for future opportunities will be 
considered to determine whether they should be developed further as part of 
the Enterprise Programme.  
 

3.11 Self- Assessment

3.12 A meeting of Chairs and Vice Chairs took place on 28th June to consider a 
draft development plan drawing on the key themes from the self-
assessment, headlines from the research undertaken into Scrutiny practice 
in other authorities, and the new national guidance. This plan will be shared 
with SMB at their meeting on 16th September.

64



3.13 Call Ins

3.14 No Call Ins have been received since the last meeting of Full Council. 

4.0 CONCLUSION

4.1 Scrutiny of a wide range of issues continues to be kept consideration by 
each Board. The new guidance will be helpful in further developing the 
approach to Scrutiny, along with the work undertaken as part of the self-
assessment.

Helen Blake
Senior Manager Customer, Policy and Scrutiny
8th August 2019

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Scrutiny Work Programme

REPORT AUTHOR

Contact: Helen Blake 
Tel 01228226639 
Email helen.blake@cumbria.gov.uk

65

mailto:helen.blake@cumbria.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Panel Jun-19 Jul-19 Aug-19 Sep-19 Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Comments

T
a

s
k
 G

ro
u
p

One day task group 

on Organisational 

Development and 

approaches to 

reducing sickness 

absence

                  

O
th

e
r 

a
c
ti
v
it
y

Enterprise and 

Commercialism 

Session;        

Strategic Planning 

Finance Briefing

Strategic Planning 

Session (tbc)
B

o
a
rd

 M
e

e
ti
n

g

Update on delivery 

of task and finish 

group 

recommendations; 

management of 

absence; Board 

Updates

Delivery of the 

Customer Strategy; 

Chairs Updates; 

Board Update

Response to 

Strategic Planning

T
a

s
k
 G

ro
u
p

B
o
a
rd

 M
e

e
ti
n

g

Implementation of 

Highways Permit 

Scheme, and 

highways condition 

and inspection 

arrangements;        

Effectiveness of 

arrangements for 

securing funding 

for infrastructure 

through planning 

system; Waste 

national policy 

changes and 

implications..

Implementation of 

Task & Finish 

recommendations; 

Delivery of 

customer service 

improvements in 

the highways 

service;             

Fire and Rescue 

Service post-

inspection update;    

Council delivery of 

Local Industrial 

Strategy outcomes; 

Brief update on 

implementation of 

Highways Permit 

Scheme and 

Inspection Team 

arrangements

National rural 

strategy and 

lobbying;             

Fire & Rescue 

Service inspection - 

action planning; 

Review of 

implementation of 

Highways Permit 

Scheme

Communities & Place 

Scrutiny Advisory Board

Scrutiny Management Board

Appendix 1

67



Panel Jun-19 Jul-19 Aug-19 Sep-19 Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Comments

Scrutiny Management Board

T
a

s
k
 G

ro
u
p

B
o
a
rd

 M
e

e
ti
n

g 2019 School 

Attainment; Digital 

emotional health 

and wellbeing.

T
a

s
k
 G

ro
u
p

To understand the challenges and risks to 

the Council and how these are being 

addressed. Initial focus on Delayed 

Transfers of Care (DTOC) and 

implementation of Integrated Care 

Communities (ICCs).

B
o
a
rd

 M
e

e
ti
n

g

LD & Autism Board 

Action Plan

Promoting 

Independence 

Programme

Safeguarding 

Adults at risk from 

abuse and neglect

Shared Lives;  

Learning 

Disabilities and 

Autism Action Plan; 

Safeguarding 

Adults

T
a

s
k
 G

ro
u
p

To understand the challenges and risks to 

the Council and how these are being 

addressed. Initial focus on Delayed 

Transfers of Care (DTOC) and 

implementation of Integrated Care 

Communities (ICCs).

B
o
a
rd

 M
e

e
ti
n

g

HealthCare for the 

Future of WNE;

Cancelled 

Operations

Orthodontics in 

South Cumbria                                  

Findings of the 

Population Health 

Management 

Accelerator 

Programme pilot in 

Barrow 

Healthcare for the 

Future of WNE; 

Podiatory; PCNs; 

Recruitment and 

Retention; Vascular 

Services in North 

Cumbria 

Health Scrutiny Committee

Children's and Young 

People Scrutiny Advisory 

Board

Adults Scrutiny Advisory 

Board

68



Panel Jun-19 Jul-19 Aug-19 Sep-19 Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Comments

Scrutiny Management Board

LEP Scrutiny Committee

B
o
a
rd

 M
e

e
ti
n

g

LEP Scrutiny 

Development Day 

and work 

programming

Progress against 

LIS Delivery Plan

Scrutiny Management Board 

Performance Working Group

Corporate 

Performance 

Report 

Corporate 

Performance 

Report

Legend 
Cabinet

SMB - Consideration of Report

Ongoing

69



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CUMBRIA PENSIONS COMMITTEE

Minutes of a Meeting of the Cumbria Pensions Committee held on Tuesday, 11 
June 2019 at 9.30 am at Conference Room A and B, Cumbria House. Botchergate, 
Carlisle, CA1 1RD

PRESENT:

Mr MH Worth (Chair)

County Councillors

Mr NH Marriner (Vice-Chair)
Mr SB Collins
Mr J Airey

Mr LN Fisher
Dr S Haraldsen
Mr N Hughes

Other Representatives:-
Mr A Sutherland - Deloitte - Investment Adviser
Mr T Gardener - AXA - Investment Adviser

Also in Attendance:-

Mrs J Crellin - Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer)
Ms S McGill - Technical Finance Officer - Pensions Investments
Ms D Purvis - Finance Manager - Pensions & Treasury
Mr P George - Group Finance Manager - Pensions, Investments and 

Insurance
Ms L Taylor - Finance Manager - Pensions Investments and 

Governance
Ms A Clark - Senior Manager - Pensions and Financial Services 

(Deputy S151 Officer – Pensions)
Ms G Welbourn
Ms A Gillies
Ms K Thompson
Ms R Elwell

- Technical Finance Officer – Pensions
- State Street
- Member of Cumbria LGPS Pension Board
- Border to Coast

PART 1 – ITEMS CONSIDERED IN THE 
PRESENCE OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS

1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Mr P Thornton and Mrs H Wall.

71

Agenda Item 11a



2

2 TERMS OF REFERENCE AND MEMBERSHIP

The Terms of Reference of the Committee were noted.

At the meeting of full Council on 11 April 2019, Mr B Wearing was appointed as a 
named substitute member of the Cumbria Pensions Committee.

Mr N Hughes replaced Mr P Thornton as a member of the Committee for this 
meeting only.

The Chairman of the Committee announced the sad passing of Mr K McDonald, 
GMB Union representative on the Committee. He had supported the work of the 
Committee. A minutes’ silence was held.

3 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

No disclosures of Interest were made at the meeting.

4 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED that, the press and public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following reports as they contain exempt 
information relating the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972:

Item 18. Border to Coast Presentation on Global Equity Alpha and the Performance 
of UK Listed Equity

Item 19. Update on Developments with Border to Coast

Item 20. 2018/19 Provisional Budget Outturn and Delivery against Business Plan

Item 21. Update from the Cumbria LGPS Local Pension Board

Item 22. Monitoring Report for the Quarter Ended 31 March 2019

Item 23. Emerging Issues

Item 24. Cumbria LGPS Investment Sub Group Activity Report to May 2019

Item 25. Presentation: Annual Performance Review

Item 26. Closing Comments

72



3

5 MINUTES

RESOLVED that, the Minutes of the meeting held on 7 March 2019 be approved 
and signed as a correct record

6 REPRESENTATION FROM NON COUNTY COUNCIL EMPLOYERS AND 
DISTRICT COUNCILS

There were no representations made to this meeting of the Cumbria Pensions 
Committee.

7 SCHEDULE OF FUTURE MEETINGS

The schedule of future meetings that had been published with the Agenda was 
noted.

8 MINUTES OF BCPP JOINT COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 11 MARCH 
2019

The Committee received the Minutes of the BCPP Joint Committee meeting held on 
11 March 2019 which were presented by the Chairman of the Cumbria Pensions 
Committee.

The Chairman briefed members on the appointment of Michael Wirz to the Joint 
Committee as a Scheme Member Observer and Deirdre Burnett as the substitute 
member. He advised on the current situation following the resignation of one of the 
Non – Executive shareholder Directors due to concerns of a conflict of interest, on 
the legal advice being sought on the matter and that there would be a deferment of 
election of Chair and Vice Chair until the matter was resolved. The Chair advised on 
his view reported at the meeting, that the speed of the introduction of new sub funds 
was too fast and that he was the only member there with that opinion, however 
Rachel Elwell would be supporting that view.

The Investment Advisor highlighted the reference in the minutes to ‘partner funds 
may be required to compromise in order to facilitate a solution’. He highlighted the 
importance to ensure that Cumbria’s strategy was workable and that compromise 
could not always happen. The Chair concurred but stated that there were areas 
where compromise may be necessary and that the next step was to await the 
outcome of the Strategic Review.

RESOLVED that, the Minutes of the Border to Coast Joint Committee meeting held 
on 11 March 2019 be received.

9 MONITORING REPORT FOR THE QUARTER ENDED 31ST MARCH 2019 
- PART 1

A report was considered from the Director of Finance (s151 Officer) regarding the 
Monitoring Report for the Quarter Ended 31 March 2019. The report advised of any 
material risk, administration, investment performance, governance and policy issues 

73



4

of the Fund for the quarter ending 31 March 2019. The report also advised of any 
governance issues or national regulatory changes and outlined performance of the 
whole portfolio and movement on liabilities over that period.

The Group Finance Manager – Pensions, Investments and Insurance guided 
members through the work undertaken on risk management, pension’s 
administration, investment management and oversight and governance (including 
policy and regulation). Following a member questioning the pensions administration 
processes risk, the Group Finance Manager – Pensions, Investments and Insurance 
advised that the risk would not be reduced in order to ensure that performance was 
kept to a high standard. Concerns remained about quality of work therefore the 
target remained.

A member queried the investment performance risk score and whether it should be 
increased in the Corporate Risk Profile due to turbulence in international markets. 
The Group Finance Manager – Pensions, Investments and Insurance advised that 
the Fund had procured equity protection and this afforded some measure of 
‘downside’ protection in Fund value to assist the triannual valuation. He would 
review this and bring it to the next meeting of the Committee.

Discussion turned to the performance of Your Pension Service (YPS). A member 
suggested that lessons could be learned from the recent experiences of the dip in 
performance. A member questioned whether the initial correspondence letter from 
YPS was receipt of correspondence or a full response to a query. The Group 
Finance Manager – Pensions, Investments and Insurance advised that this was a 
receipt of correspondence only. 

Members were reassured that there would be a review of all YPS performance 
indicators so there was an increased focus on scheme members’ experiences. He 
briefed members on the increase in performance of Pensions Administration and on 
the work being undertaken with YPS. It was noted that some figures were skewed 
by a number of cases taking a long time to resolve. Members were informed that the 
reason for delay for putting some scheme members into pension was usually due to 
information needed from employers.

A member queried that there was no longer a fixed retirement date and asked 
whether this had had an impact on performance. The Group Finance Manager – 
Pensions, Investments and Insurance would report back on this to the next meeting.

The Director of Finance (Section 152 Officer) talked about the importance of 
scheme members’ experiences with YPS and that employers should know their 
requirements and responsibilities in order to reduce the delay into pension and 
improve performance. 

The Group Finance Manager – Pensions, Investments and Insurance reported on 
the fifteen administering authority discretions exercised during the quarter to 31 
March 2019.

74



5

When talking about Fund Performance in Quarter 4, for the purpose of clarity, the 
Investment Advisor wanted to ensure that the press and public drew the correct 
conclusion from reading the report, that if the fund was below the benchmark, this 
was better than above the benchmark. He explained that a negative figure was 
better than a positive figure. Officers would clarify the wording in the report to reflect 
this observation.

Members were advised about the response drafted between the Senior Manager, 
Pensions and Financial Services and the Chair of the Pensions Committee relating 
to good governance within the LGPS. A member considered the response to be ‘a 
sledgehammer to crack a nut’. The Senior Manager, Pensions and Financial 
Services advised on the consideration given to the options in the consultation but 
stated that option 2, for greater ring fencing of the LGPS within existing structures 
had been the preferred option. The Director of Finance (s151 officer) added that 
Hymans Robertson had been invited to the meeting of the County Treasurers 
Society and would circulate any significant developments on this matter should any 
arise after the meeting. 

The Group Finance Manager – Pensions, Investments and Insurance reported on a 
third consultation ending on 30 July regarding LGPS: Changes to the Local 
Valuation Cycle and the Management of Employer Risk. A response would be 
proposed from the Fund’s perspective which would be circulated to the Committee 
before its submission. 

RESOLVED that, 

1 The Committee receive and notes the performance and monitoring of the 
Fund for the period from 1st January 2019 to 31st March 2019;

2 The Committee notes the Fund’s response to Hyman Robertson’s 
consultation on Good Governance in the LGPS; and

3 The Committee notes issues arising relating to the governance of the Fund in 
the past quarter. 

10 REVIEW OF THE ADMISSION AND TERMINATION POLICY

A report was considered from the Director of Finance (s151 Officer) regarding a 
review of the Admission and Termination Policy. The Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government had launched a consultation focussing on 
proposed changes to the valuation cycle of LGPS Funds and the management of 
employer risk on 8 May 2018. A number of amendments to the policy had been 
proposed and any amendments to the Termination Policy approved by the Pensions 
Committee would be subject to consultation with employers of the Fund.

The Senior Manager - Pensions and Financial Services introduced the background 
to the changes to the Local Valuation Cycle. In terms of providing a response to the 
consultation launched by MHCLG on 8 May 2019 on four specific matters relating to 

75



6

the LGPS, she talked about the proposed response regarding employers exiting the 
LGPS, exit credits, higher and further education

A member highlighted his interest in the higher and further education proposals, 
specifically the proposal for employers not being required to offer membership of the 
Cumbria LGPS to non-teaching staff. He referred to the large number of staff this 
may involve across the country and the importance of equality being considered by 
the Government in consideration of how the potential change was made.

Following member questions, the Senior Manager - Pensions and Financial 
Services advised that moving to a four year cycle would incur savings, of which 
were yet unknown

RESOLVED that, 

1 The Committee approves the proposed response from the Fund to MHCLG’s 
consultation on Changes to the Local Valuation Cycle and the Management 
of Employer Risk with no amendment

2 Amendments to the Admission and Termination Policy subject to consultation 
with Fund employers be approved

11 FEEDBACK FROM THE PENSIONS REGULATOR'S COHORT REVIEW 
OF THE LGPS

A report was considered from the Director of Finance (s151 Officer) regarding the 
feedback from the Pensions Regulator’s cohort review of the LGPS. The report 
provided feedback from the Pension’s Regulator review of the Cumbria LGPS as 
part of its wider cohort review of the LGPS. The findings of the Regulator had been 
positive and there were a number of areas for improvement highlighted, leading to 
the development of an Action Plan. No areas of specific concern had caused 
regulatory concern.

The Group Finance Manager - Pensions Investments and Insurance guided 
members through the Pensions Regulator’s review in detail covering key areas of 
feedback such as record keeping, scheme administrator risks, member 
communications and risk management. He advised on the key themes in the Action 
Plan and about a personnel risk. Another inspection was not inspected and the 
inspection outcomes would be anonymised and published by the Pension 
Regulator.

Following a request for information about officer succession planning for the team, 
the Group Finance Manager - Pensions Investments and Insurance provided detail 
on the roles and responsibilities of officers in the team and arrangements for the 
future.

Discussion ensued on the tracking of Fund members following a suggestion by a 
member that this may be more appropriate undertaken by the members’ former 
employer. The Group Finance Manager - Pensions Investments and Insurance 

76



7

advised on the importance of the data tracing agency in this task as employers 
would be unlikely to hold an up to date address for their former employees who 
were now deferred members within the Pension Fund as they had left the employer. 
He also commented on the impact of GDPR regulations on using other methods of 
sourcing such as tracing members by insurance number with the assistance of the 
Department of Work and Pensions. Members were supportive of using the data 
tracing agency.

RESOLVED that

1 The Action Plan addressing suggested areas of improvement from the 
Pensions Regulator be noted.

2 The Committee requests the Cumbria LGPS Local Pension Board to monitor 
progress against the Action Plan as part of its work plan.

12 DRAFT UNAUDITED ACCOUNTS TO 31 MARCH 2019

A report was considered from the Director of Finance (s151 Officer) regarding the 
Draft Unaudited Accounts to 31 March 2019. The report presented the draft (subject 
to audit) Accounts of the Cumbria Local Government Pensions Scheme 2018/19 
with a recommendation to submit the accounts (subject to any final Audit 
amendments to the Audit and Assurance Committee for approval on behalf of the 
Council.

The Finance Manager - Pensions Investments and Governance advised on the role 
of the Committee in submitting the Accounts to the Audit and Assurance Committee. 
She was pleased to comment on the successful year for the Fund and drew 
members’ attention to the unaudited accounts.

A member queried how the Fund’s benchmark of 9.4% differed to the Fund’s return 
of 6.6% for the year which was marginally below the Fund’s bespoke index 
performance benchmark for the year. It was clarified that the former was for a three 
year period and the latter was for a one year period.

RESOLVED that 

1 The Committee submit to the Audit and Assurance Committee (subject to any 
final Audit amendments) the Cumbria LGPS Accounts 2018/19 for approval 
on behalf of the Council.

2 It be noted that the completion of the Cumbria LGPS Annual Report and 
Accounts 2018/19 (including the Governance Compliance Statement) is 
progressing and will be reviewed by auditors for consistency with the 
Accounts. The full document will be presented to Members for review and 
approval for publication at the September 2019 Pensions Committee 
meeting. 

13 PREPARATIONS FOR 2019 TRIENNIAL VALUATION

A report was considered from the Director of Finance (s151 Officer) regarding 
preparations for the 2019 Triennial Valuation. The report advised that as 

77



8

Administering Authority of Cumbria LGPS the Council is responsible for its 
administration on behalf of 127 scheduled and admitted bodies including the County 
Council (as at March 2019). The report asked members to note the progress made 
in preparing the Fund for the 2019 Triennial Valuation. 
The Senior Manager - Pensions and Financial Services guided members through 
the work being undertaken on the 2019 Triennial Valuation, reassuring the 
Committee that the timetable was progressing well.

A short discussion took place on the determination date for the McCloud case and 
whether it would be within the timeframe of the Valuation.

RESOLVED that, the progress made in preparing the Fund for the 2019 Triennial 
Valuation be noted

A recess commenced at 10.45am. The meeting reconvened at 11.00am.

14 CUMBRIA LGPS DATA QUALITY REVIEW

A report was considered from the Director of Finance (s151 Officer) regarding the 
Cumbria LGPS data quality review. The report provided an update to members on 
the actions being taken to improve data quality within the Fund and concluded that 
good progress is being made with the actions detailed in the data improvement plan 
(attached as an appendix to the report).

The Group Finance Manager - Pensions Investments and Insurance guided 
members through the work being undertaken in the data quality review which 
included improving pending leaver information, the National Fraud Initiative, 
improving data for scheme members with no spouse/cohabiting partner information 
and scheme member communications. Further engagement would take place with 
employers and the next set of data was due shortly. A detailed explanation was 
provided on ‘frozen refunds’.

Members’ attention was drawn to Section 2P (2) of the Constitution which set out 
the functions of the Cumbria LGPS Pension Board. It was a responsibility of the 
Board to ensure effective and efficient governance and administration of the LGPS 
therefore Committee members were asked to request the Board to monitor future 
progress against the data quality improvement plan and actions taken to improve 
data quality across the Fund.

RESOLVED, that

1 The progress towards further improving the quality of data held by the Fund 
be noted

2   The Committee requests that the Cumbria LGPS Local Pension Board 
monitors future progress against the data quality improvement plan and 
actions taken to improve data quality across the Fund.

78



9

15 2018/19 PROVISIONAL BUDGET OUTTURN AND DELIVERY AGAINST 
BUSINESS PLAN

A report was considered from the Director of Finance (s151 Officer) regarding the 
2018/19 provisional Budget Outturn and delivery against the Business Plan. The 
report advised on the work undertaken during 2018/19 to deliver the Business Plan 
and provided a provisional outturn for the Fund for 2018/19 including variances 
against the budget. All targets in the 2018/19 Business Plan had been achieved and 
there was an under spend of £0.166m against the Budget.

Members were informed that the three component parts of the service, 
Administration, Investment Management and Oversight and Governance were all on 
track for delivery. This was a positive position given the additional work relating to 
the Pensions Regulator inspection and an increase in the number of Cumbria LGPS 
Board meetings.  Detail was provided on the budget and outturn position for the 
service. Costs relating to staffing, administration and oversight and governance 
were highlighted.

RESOLVED that, 

1 It be noted that business of the Pension Fund in 2018/19 was completed in 
accordance with the Business Plan approved in March 2018.

2   It be noted that in 2018/19 the Cumbria Pension Fund underspent by 
£0.166m against its revised budget of £6.979m. 

16 UPDATE ON DEVELOPMENTS WITH BORDER TO COAST

A report was considered from the Director of Finance (s151 Officer) regarding an 
update on developments with Border to Coast which included an update on 
governance matters and other key developments. These included an appointment of 
a Head of Finance, the commencement of a graduate programme and 
developments in relation to the non-executive directors of the Company.

The Senior Manager - Pensions and Financial Services talked members through the 
developments with Border to Coast since the previous meeting of the Committee. 
This included updates relating to the Sub Fund, the revised Responsible Investment 
Policy and Corporate Governance and Voting Guidelines and an operational update 
relating to staff.

A member referred to the current arrangements of the Non-Executive Directors and 
the legal advice being sought on disclosable pecuniary matters. It was confirmed 
that any legal advice would be provided at the relevant Local Authority and was not 
being provided by Border to Coast. 

RESOLVED that, progress on the development of Border to Coast be noted

79



10

17 PRESENTATION - BORDER TO COAST RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENT 
POLICY AND CORPORATE VOTING GUIDELINES

Rachel Elwell, the Chief Executive Officer from Border to Coast gave a presentation 
about Responsible Investment (RI) to members which covered the following:

 Why it is important and why it matters
 RI myths
 Policies review process
 RI key changes
 Voting policy key changes
 What was achieved in the previous year
 The engagement strategy
 Thematic approach to engagement
 Collaborative engagement with the Royal Dutch Shell as an example

Ms Elwell commended the Committee on its continuity of membership, advised on 
the amount of Border to Coast assets and thanked officers and Investment Advisors 
for their support to Border to Coast.

A member commented on his concerns in the ESG guidelines which related to 
political donations, the importance of good governance which should be regularly 
monitored and on the target of appointing 30% of female officers which he 
considered to be inflexible and could marginalise other candidates. Ms Elwell 
explained the position on political donations and the views of Border to Coast on this 
matter. She commented that the 30% target for females was to ensure good 
practice in officer appointment and confirmed that the RI policy was aligned with 
Government policy with some discretion applied. In terms of climate change, Ms 
Elwell outlined the three themes that Border to Coast considered it important to work 
with companies on; governance, transparency and diversity and explained the 
reasons why climate change had been identified.

The Director of Finance (S151 Officer) informed Ms Elwell that the Pensions 
Committee would welcome input into the future RI policy and requested it be 
received in August 2019 in order for the Committee to respond in a timely manner. 
Ms Elwell explained the work to date and asked that the Committee feedback 
through officers. She confirmed that the implementation of the Policy could not be 
delayed. 

A member asked for clarification on the engagement process in particular relating to 
utilities companies and some poor management of contracting arrangements and 
some failings on environmental issues. He asked whether this could be addressed 
with the companies in order to advise them that the system was ineffective. The 
Director of Finance (S151 Officer) offered a solution to allow the experiences of the 
twelve Funds who invested in particular industries to feedback on the services 
received. This would be pursued outside the meeting by Ms Elwell.

80



11

A member queried the voting process asking if there were ever any abstentions and 
whether guidance was available on the voting. Ms Elwell stated that Border to Coast 
would welcome input on how to improve the voting experience and would pursue 
this matter outside of the meeting.

Ms Elwell explained the transit pathway initiative for the Committee. Further 
information on this would be circulated after the meeting.

RESOLVED that, the position be noted.

18 BORDER TO COAST PRESENTATION ON GLOBAL EQUITY ALPHA AND 
THE PERFORMANCE OF UK LISTED EQUITY

Rachel Elwell, the Chief Executive Officer from Border to Coast gave a presentation 
on Global Equity Alpha and the performance of UK Listed Equity. The presentation 
covered the following:

 Funds launched to date
 Capability launch high level timetable
 Organisational chart
 Global Equity Alpha Fund – investment beliefs
 What will the Fund look like
 Equity fund management investment philosophy
 UK Listed Equity Fund – performance
 Global Equity Alpha Fund, the process followed, management selection 

process, final manager selection process, Fund summary, attribution, and 
positioning.

An Investment Advisor highlighted the risk of cash flow, querying if the LGPS was 
the only Fund that needed cash flow and how the problem of cash flow would be 
resolved. Ms Elwell explained the work undertaken to date on this matter, advising 
the solution was to have income units and that this would be considered at a future 
officer group meeting.

Following member questions, Ms Elwell advised that all Funds were undertaking 
major strategic Fund asset allocations at the same time, she confirmed that the 
organisational chart was similar to that of eighteen months ago and reassured the 
Committee that the Border to Coast team continually monitored performance.

The Director of Finance (S151 Officer) asked for an explanation of how the 
company intended to ensure the five managers appointed, each with different 
investment styles and performance targets would be managed to achieve the overall 
‘blended ’target return. An Investment Advisor highlighted the importance of regular 
briefings on how managers were monitored. Ms Elwell explained how performance 
was monitored and on the reporting structure and advised on an upcoming Border 
to Coast event on 10 and 11 October in Leeds for members to discuss this type of 
issues.

81



12

In discussing the UK listed Equity Fund performance the Chair was pleased with 
officer performance over the previous 9 months. Ms Elwell was thanked for her 
presentation.

RESOLVED that, the position be noted.

19 (PART 2) UPDATE ON DEVELOPMENTS WITH BORDER TO COAST

A report was considered from the Director of Finance (s151 Officer) regarding an 
update on developments with Border to Coast. 

Following careful consideration of the report and taking into account the information 
presented by the Senior Manager – Pensions and Financial Services it was, 

RESOLVED that, 

1 The report be noted
2 Approval be given to invest 20% of the Fund (approx. £540m based on 

assets as at 31st March) in the externally managed Border to Coast Global 
Listed Equity Alpha Fund (subject to satisfactory completion of any remaining 
due diligence); 

3 The Chair of the Pension Committee, be authorised, in his capacity as the 
Council’s shareholder representative for the company, to sign the 
Shareholder Resolutions (for increases of 3% and 4% respectively in the 
remuneration payable to the Executive Directors (Chief Executive Officer and 
Chief Operating Officer)

4 It be noted that the Director of Finance, in consultation with the Chair, will 
exercise her delegated power to act as shareholder representative in relation 
to any Shareholder resolutions considered at the Border to Coast Pensions 
Partnership Ltd Annual General Meeting on 18th July 2019 where a 
shareholder decision is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred.

20 (PART 2 APPENDIX) 2018/19 PROVISIONAL BUDGET OUTTURN AND 
DELIVERY AGAINST BUSINESS PLAN

The Senior Manager – Pensions and Financial Services presented the Part 2 
Appendix 2018/19 Provisional Budget Outturn and delivery against Business Plan. 
Members received and noted the Provisional Budget Outturn figures. 

RESOLVED that, the Part 2 Appendix for 2018/19 Provisional Budget Outturn and 
delivery against Business Plan be noted.

21 UPDATE FROM THE CUMBRIA LGPS LOCAL PENSION BOARD

A report was considered from the Director of Finance (s151 Officer) which gave an 
update from the Cumbria LGPS Local Pension Board. This was a formal report of 
the Board which would be presented on a quarterly basis to the Pensions 
Committee.

82



13

Karen Thompson, a member of the Pension Board was in attendance to talk 
members through the report and thanked members for the opportunity to attend the 
meeting.

Following careful consideration of the report and taking into account the information 
presented by Ms Thompson, it was

RESOLVED that, the update from the Cumbria Local Pension Board be noted

22 MONITORING REPORT FOR THE QUARTER ENDED 31ST MARCH 2019 
- PART 2

A part two monitoring report was considered from the Director of Finance (s151 
Officer) regarding the quarter ended 31 March 2019. The report advised members 
of matters which included exempt information and therefore excluded from public 
disclosure which had arisen during the quarter ended 31 March 2019. These related 
to either governance or employer issues.

Members gave careful consideration to the report and after taking into account the 
information presented by the Group Finance Manager - Pensions Investments and 
Insurance and Ms Thompson it was 

RESOLVED that, the quarterly monitoring Part 2 items of the Fund for the period to 
31st March 2019 be received and noted.

23 EMERGING ISSUES

The Committee received a verbal update on a number of emerging issues pertinent 
to the work of the Committee which included the arrangements for the September 
2019 meeting of the Committee and Border to Coast conference in October 2019

RESOLVED that the position be noted.

24 CUMBRIA LGPS INVESTMENT SUB GROUP ACTIVITY REPORT TO MAY 
2019

A report was considered from the Director of Finance (s151 Officer) regarding the 
Cumbria LGPS Investment Sub Group Activity report to May 2019. This included 
any decisions made by the Section 151 Officer and the proposed future work 
schedule in respect of the future work schedule.

Members took on board the information presented by officers and following careful 
consideration of the report, it was

RESOLVED that, 

1 The progress of the Investment Sub Group from February 2019 to May 2019 
be noted, including the Group’s support for the two proposed new investment 

83



14

commitments and the agreement of the Section 151 Officer, under her 
delegated powers, that the investment decisions be enacted;

2 It be noted that work is commencing on the full Investment Strategy Review 
in 2019, including review of the Fund’s asset allocation and Investment 
Strategy Statement;

3 The performance of the Fund over the quarter be noted and it be noted that 
the corporate bonds portfolio manager will remain ‘on watch’

4 The proposed work programme of the Investment Sub Group for the next 
reporting period, including the work on the Investment Strategy Review be 
agreed.

25 PRESENTATION - ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Performance Members received a presentation from Anne Gillies, Client Services 
Manager from State Street regarding Cumbria LGPS Annual Performance Review.

Members were informed about the following:

 Market background
 Strategic benchmark
 Total Fund analysis
 Manager Analysis
 Targets – Active Managers
 Conclusion

RESOLVED that, the position be noted.

26 CLOSING COMMENTS

The Chair thanked everyone for their attendance at the meeting.

The meeting ended at 2.15 pm

84



AUDIT AND ASSURANCE COMMITTEE

Minutes of a Meeting of the Audit and Assurance Committee held on Wednesday, 
26 June 2019 at 10.30 am at Conference Room A and B, Cumbria House, Carlisle

PRESENT:

Mrs HF Carrick (Chair)

Ms C McCarron-Holmes 
(Vice-Chair)
Mr LN Fisher
Mr NH Marriner

Mr FI Morgan
Mr P McSweeney

Also in Attendance:-

Mrs J Crellin - Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer)
Dr D Roberts - Executive Director - Corporate, Customer and 

Community Services
Ms A Clark - Senior Manager - Pensions and Financial Services 

(Deputy S151 Officer – Pensions)
Mr R McGahon - Group Audit Manager
Ms K Fairclough - Chief Executive
Ms L Berryman - Assistant Director - Children and Young People
Mr S Hall - Acting Assistant Director - Economy & Environment
Ms H Kirk - Senior Risk Officer
Ms J Butterworth - Senior Auditor
Mr S Tweedie - Customer Services Manager

Mr G Kelly - Engagement Lead - Grant Thornton

PART 1 – ITEMS CONSIDERED IN THE 
PRESENCE OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS

1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Mr F Cassidy and Mr G Cook.

2 MEMBERSHIP

Mr Morgan replaced Mr F Cassidy and Mr P McSweeney replaced Mr G Cook as 
members of the Committee for this meeting only.

It was noted that at the meeting of full Council on 11 April 2019, the following 
changes to the Committee were made:

85

Agenda Item 11b



2

Mrs C McCarron Holmes was appointed Vice Chair of the Committee.

Mr F Cassidy was appointed as a permanent member of the Committee.

The Chair congratulated Mrs McCarron Holmes on her appointment as Vice Chair of 
the Committee and thanked Mr McGuckin, the outgoing Vice Chair for his valuable 
contribution to the work of the Committee.

3 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

No disclosures of Interest were declared.

4 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED that, the press and public not be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of any items of business on the Agenda.

5 MINUTES

RESOLVED that, the minutes of the meeting held on 14 March 2019 be agreed and 
signed by the Chair.

6 DEEP DIVE RISK ANALYSIS - PREVENTION OF AND PLACEMENT 
SUFFICIENCY FOR CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER.

A short discussion took place on the merits of receiving presentation slides before 
meetings in order for members to prepare questions in advance.

The Deep Dive for this meeting was the Prevention of and Placement Sufficiency for 
Children Looked After (CLA). The presentation was delivered by the Assistant 
Director - Children and Young People and covered the following:

 The risk description
 Causal factors
 Setting the context – National and Cumbria
 Mitigating actions to address causal factors
 CLA Recovery Plan: Management Oversight/Governance and its impact
 CLA recovery – additional prevention services
 Impact of prevention services
 Unavailability of appropriate placements to match young people’s assessed 

needs
 Ineffective recruitment and retention of Cumbria foster carers and impacts
 Signs of Safety (SOS) Implementation and impact
 2019/20 and what’s next

The Assistant Director - Children and Young People undertook to circulate the name 
of the company involved in the Safe Families Project. 

86



3

In highlighting the negative national press relating to the circumstances of some 
CLA, a member asked that the positive story to fund the internal provision of two, 
four bedded residential homes for CLA be publicised. A member queried why the 
risk rating had not reduced in light of the improvement in CLA services over recent 
years and whether Scrutiny could have a role in determining the value for money 
element of placements. A short discussion took place on the respective roles of 
Scrutiny and the Audit and Assurance Committee. 

The Director of Finance (s151 Officer) informed the Committee about who would be 
best placed to ascertain placement value for money and advised on the value for 
money of CLA placements in terms of supply, demand and cost of care needs 
placements in the county. She stressed the appropriateness of placements to reflect 
CLA needs was part of the assessment of the value for money of placements, not 
just cost in isolation and that the contractual framework of providers for CLA 
external placements provided rigour for value for money.

In response to a query about the underlying causes why children were brought into 
care, the Assistant Director - Children and Young People commented on national 
research on why the numbers of CLA were increasing. In describing the complex 
landscape of reasons, she identified that increased public awareness, legacy issues 
from the Ofsted inspection of CLA services, areas of high deprivation in the county 
and staff recruitment and retention issues all had an impact on the number of CLA. 
Additionally, reference was made to new areas of concern for CLA such as child 
sexual and criminal exploitation. The Chief Executive concurred, listing additional 
issues which contributed to the complex picture which was demanding to manage.

A short discussion took place on how many children were placed in care due to 
parental behaviour rather than the child’s behaviour. The Assistant Director - 
Children and Young People reported that a whole family approach aided with this 
challenge. 

The challenge of recruitment and retention of Social Workers in Allerdale and 
Copeland was raised by a member. The Assistant Director - Children and Young 
People advised on the work undertaken in the localities to improve this situation and 
commented on the provision of a care home in Allerdale and Copeland. The Chief 
Executive reported on the positive work undertaken by the County Council’s Social 
Work Academy to address Social Worker recruitment and retention issues. 

It was queried whether analysis had been undertaken on whether there was a 
correlation between CLA and children that had been excluded from school. The 
Assistant Director - Children and Young People reported on the work done in this 
area by the Corporate Parenting Board who had not found a significant correlation. 
In discussing whether there were links between CLA and Pupil Referral Units 
(PRUs), the Assistant Director - Children and Young People reported on the regular 
meetings between PRUs and senior managers on any overlapping issues which 
may have been identified.

87



4

The functions and objectives of the West MA Assessment Centre was explained. 
The change in CLA figures in the Barrow and South Lakeland areas over previous 
years was discussed briefly.

The Chair commented on the successful work relating to improving CLA services 
and stated that although the County Council bore the cost for CLA, a lot of issues 
were out with the control of the County Council and belonged to partners.  She 
considered that the corporate risk target of 20 as a manageable risk was tolerable. 
She felt that while mitigation of the risk was internal to the County Council, not all of 
the issues encountered were internally based.

The Chief Executive concurred that this was a system wide issue and that future 
work would focus on shaping and influencing. She added that additional information 
would be added into the risk register on the work being undertaken in the CLA 
service area.

The Chair asked that it be reflected in the Risk Register that the County Council’s 
positive direction of travel in respect of this risk had commenced from a challenging 
starting position with great improvement taking place in a short period of time.

RESOLVED that, the position be noted.

7 2018/19 QUARTER 4 CORPORATE RISK REPORT

A report was considered from the Director of Finance (s151 Officer) regarding the 
2018/19 Quarter 4 Corporate Risk Report. The report provided members with a 
progress update on the Council’s 2018/19 corporate risks for the fourth quarter to 31 
March 2019.

The Director of Finance (s151 Officer) reported that no new risks had been identified 
and that the Management of Significant Contracts risk RAG rating had reduced due 
to the significant progress made and therefore had been moved back into ‘business 
as usual’. A summary of risk management changes at Quarter 4 was provided.

In discussing the Waste Management Contract risk, a member asked if  
subcontractors subscribed to the same ethics as the County Council. The  Assistant 
Director - Economy and Environment advised that in general terms, they did.

A member queried whether the information contained within the Risk Register 
should be more detailed in order to identify officer accountability and provide 
members with confidence that the mitigation of risks were being monitored. The 
Director of Finance (s151 Officer) and Chief Executive assured the Committee that 
risk owners had the responsibility to follow detailed action plans which sat 
underneath the Risk Register.

Discussion took place on sickness absence with a member referring to the deep 
dive on the matter at a previous meeting. He highlighted that sickness absence 
numbers were still increasing and that this was a matter for management to resolve 
as the County Council’s People Management monitoring system was effective and 

88



5

efficient. The Executive Director - Corporate Customer and Community Services 
reported on the significant work being undertaken on sickness absence 
management throughout the Council, the work being undertaken by the Scrutiny 
Management Board on the issue and the long term plans to focus on and improve 
sickness absence. 

The Chair reflected on the sickness absence deep dive and asked that sickness 
absence figures were further broken down into component parts with an increased 
level of detail presented. Differentiation was required to identify between single day 
and long term absences. It was important for members to understand if there were a 
small number of long term instance of sickness or a high number of short term 
absences in any future presentations.

A member highlighted the negative impact of inspections on County Council service 
provision and on officer time. He considered that preparation for inspections 
adversely affected the ability to deliver services and incurred financial costs. The 
Chair concurred, adding that there should be an appropriate level of regulation.

RESOLVED that,

1 Members note the content of the Quarter 4 report, and agree that it provides 
sufficient assurance that the current Risk Management arrangements are 
both robust and effective.

2 Members receive and note the presentation on the corporate risk; Prevention 
of and Placement Sufficiency for Children Looked After, given earlier in the 
meeting.

3 Members note that a report outlining the refreshed 2019/20 Corporate Risk 
Register is the next item on the agenda, and note that the deep dive review 
of a Strategic Risk for the September 2019 Audit and Assurance Committee 
will be decided at the 26 July 2019 meeting.

8 2019/20 CORPORATE RISK REGISTER REFRESH

A report was considered from the Director of Finance (s151 Officer) regarding the 
2019/20 Corporate Risk Register Refresh. The report presented a refreshed 
Corporate Risk Register for 2019/20, together with the supporting rationale for 
changes to the 2018/19 register, new and emerging risks. Once approved, the 
refreshed Corporate Risk Register would be updated on a quarterly basis and 
presented to the Committee in order to provide assurance that current risk 
management arrangements were both robust and effective.

In presenting her report, the Director of Finance (s151 Officer) reported that of the 
twelve corporate risks, ten would be rolled forward into the 2019/20 Corporate Risk 
Register following discussion by the Corporate Management Team (CMT). She 
reported on the Action Plans in place advising that all had milestones and tasks 
included. She confirmed that escalation of a risk would be recommended if CMT 

89



6

considered that a risk was not placed at the appropriate level. Reference was made 
to the uncertainty relating to core funding for the next financial year due to the 
absence of Government announcements on Fair Funding and 75% Business Rate 
Retention and that all risks were being addressed in the context of this uncertainty.

The Chair acknowledged the uncertainty in the ten year financial planning model in 
the context of the absence of government announcements on funding. She 
expressed her wish to have a five year financial planning model in addition to 
highlighting that financial planning was based on some assumptions. She reported 
that the Better Care Fund and Improved Better Care Fund would remain and would 
not be included in the £50m gap in the Medium Term Financial Plan. A short 
discussion took place on the merits of Unitary Authorities and their impacts on 
finance.

Following a member question, the Assistant Director Economy and Environment 
provided members with the rationale as to why the risk ‘strategic waste 
management contract does not deliver the services to the level required’ 
was not included in the proposed Corporate Risk Register. The management of this 
risk would be at Directorate level. The waste contract, however was a significant 
contract and reporting of this contract would be part of risk 9 ’There is a risk that the 
Council has a failure in significant contracts’. He undertook to advise members 
outside of the meeting about the name of the waste management contractor which 
may have recently changed. The Chair expressed her concern around the lack of 
Committee visibility and timeliness of escalation should the risk increase. 

It was noted that following member discussion in the Deep Dive earlier in the 
meeting, the causal factors in the risk ‘Prevention of and Placements Sufficiency for 
Children Looked After’ would be reworded.

The Chair advised that the strategic Risk for the September 2019 Audit and 
Assurance Committee would be agreed at the 26 July 2019 meeting.

RESOLVED that,

1 Members note the summary of refreshed risks and agree that they 
adequately cover all areas of Strategic Risk.  

2 Causal factors in the risk ‘Prevention of and Placements Sufficiency for 
Children Looked After’ to be reworded

3 No new or emerging risks be added to the Corporate Risk Register for 
2019/20

4 The deep dive review of a Strategic Risk for the September 2019 Audit and 
Assurance Committee to be agreed at the 26 July 2019 meeting.

9 ANNUAL REVIEW OF AUDIT COMMITTEE EFFECTIVENESS 2018/19

A report was considered from the Director of Finance (s151 Officer) regarding the 
Annual Review of the Audit and Assurance Committee’s Effectiveness 2018/19. The 
report provided a review of the work of the Committee against the core functions of 
an audit committee as defined within the CIPFA Position Statement on Audit 

90



7

Committees in Local Authorities and Police 2018. The analysis of how the 
Committee matched the core functions was included in Appendix 1 of the report.

The Director of Finance (s151 Officer) reported on the business conducted at the 
meetings of the Committee held over the previous twelve months. She was pleased 
to report that against the CIPFA core purpose statements for audit committees, the 
Audit and Assurance Committee compared well.

RESOLVED that, Members note the report and confirm the assessment of   
conformance with the core functions of an audit committee per the 
2018 CIPFA Guidance as set out at Appendix 1 of the report

10 INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19

A report was considered from the Group Audit Manager regarding the Internal Audit 
Annual Report 2018/19. The report provided a summary of the outcomes of the 
work of Internal Audit for 2018/19 and included the Head of Internal Audit’s opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Council’s arrangements for governance, risk 
management and internal control in accordance with the requirements of the Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS).

The Group Audit Manager reported that he could provide reasonable assurance 
over the reported effectiveness of the Council’s arrangements for governance, risk 
management and internal control. He reported that 65% of Risk Based Audits had 
resulted in Reasonable or Substantial assurance which was a slight improvement on 
2017/18.  He commented on the Audit Opinion statements available to him using the 
agreed Internal Audit reporting methodology and advised that 44 reviews had been 
completed or were at draft report stage. He highlighted that all audit work had been 
conducted in accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and 
advised on a threat to Internal Audit’s independence and the mitigating safeguards 
put in place to resolve this.

Members were informed about the follow up work on the Highways Supply Chain 
(Operated Plant) Audit Review and members were provided with the definition of a 
‘chequebook school’. Discussion ensued on what the Committee could do to help 
the Group Audit Manager raise the profile of Audit reviews to ensure that 
recommendations were followed up by directorates. Committee oversight of the 
audit review process was considered to be a positive contribution to the work of 
Internal Audit, by the Group Audit Manager.

The Chair was concerned that the Waste Management Contract risk which had 
transferred to the responsibility of the Directorate Management Team, would result 
in a lack of visibility for the Committee. She queried how assurance could be given 
to members that recommendations were being actioned. The Chief Executive 
provided assurance that Executive Directors had responsibility for addressing the 
recommendations of the Audit. Using the Highways Supply Chain (Operated Plant) 
Audit Review as an example, the Chair queried how the Committee would know if 
directorates were not implementing recommendations. 

91



8

In acknowledging the Chair’s concerns, the Engagement Manager – Grant Thornton 
considered that an effective governance framework which allowed the escalation of 
issues should provide assurance for the Committee. The Group Audit Manager 
confirmed Executive Director oversight of the progression of Audit recommendations 
and reassured members that if he had any concerns, the issue would be brought 
before the Committee for consideration.

RESOLVED that, members note: 

a) The progress in delivering the 2018/19 audit plan and the outcomes of 
completed audits set out at Appendix 1 of the report.

b) The Head of Internal Audit’s opinion of reasonable assurance over the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s arrangements for governance, 
risk management and internal control for the year ended 31 March 2019.

c) The Head of Internal Audit’s declaration of conformance with the mandatory 
PSIAS.

d) The Head of Internal Audit’s declaration of safeguards put in place to protect 
Internal Audit’s independence as required by the PSIAS.

e) The results of the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme.

11 SENIOR INFORMATION RISK OWNER (SIRO) & INFORMATION 
GOVERNANCE ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19

A report was considered from the Executive Director – Corporate, Customer and 
Community Services regarding the Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) and 
Information Governance Annual Report 2018-19. The report provided an update 
relating to the responsibilities of the Cumbria County Council SIRO and outlined 
activity and performance related to information governance. It provided an update 
on information risks, how risks were managed, the governance process in place, 
what was going well and where improvements were required.

The Executive Director – Corporate, Customer and Community Services reported 
on the end of year target Risk Score, the increased number of reported data 
breaches and increased no of requests for information and Freedom of Information 
requests. She explained the work being undertaken on breaches of data and the 
number of referrals made to the Information Commissioner, all of 
Which had since been closed to his satisfaction. Members’ attention was drawn to 
the Action Plan 2019/20 which would further strengthen the Council’s Governance 
arrangements.

Following a query on the use of the blind copy email facility, the Information 
Governance Manager commented on its importance for the business of the Council. 
Reasons for the small number of data breaches were provided for members and the 

92



9

new ways of working that had been introduced to ensure further breaches did not 
occur were reported. 

RESOLVED that,

1 The content of the 2018-19 SIRO Annual Report attached as Appendix 1 to 
the report be noted.

2 The council’s approach to risk management which enables consideration of 
the nature of information governance risks and the adequacy of controls and 
mitigations be noted.

12 GRANT THORNTON ITEMS

a External Audit - Fees letter 2019/20

The Engagement Lead from Grant Thornton presented their letter detailing the  
Planned Audit Fee for 2019/20. The letter included the scale fee, scope of the audit 
fee, the value for money conclusion, Pensions Fund audit, the online audit 
timetable, identified the key members of the audit team, information about additional 
work and the commitment of Grant Thornton to providing a high quality service.

The Engagement Lead from Grant Thornton emphasised that the scale of the audit 
had not changed since the previous year and that the timescale was that which was 
to be expected. He commented on the focus on regulation rather than outcomes for 
Local Authorities. The Code of Audit Practice was currently being consulted on and 
the County Council was encouraged to contribute. He advised on the 
recommendations that Grant Thornton would be making in terms of remit, a change 
to value for money and to undertake audits at a different time of year,

The Chair, in noting that fees had not increased over a number of years and the 
implications of this, highlighted that members were aware of the challenges within 
the audit system.

RESOLVED that, the fees be noted.

13 FORWARD PLAN - AUDIT AND ASSURANCE COMMITTEE

The Forward Plan for the Committee was noted.

The Deep Dive for the September meeting would be confirmed at the 26 July 
meeting of the Committee.

14 DATE & TIME OF NEXT MEETING

The next meeting of the Committee would be held on 26 July 2019 at 10.30am at 
Cumbria House, Carlisle.

The meeting ended at 1.35 pm

93



This page is intentionally left blank



AUDIT AND ASSURANCE COMMITTEE

Minutes of a Meeting of the Audit and Assurance Committee held on Friday, 26 July 
2019 at 10.30 am at Conference Room A&B, Cumbria House, Carlisle CA1 1RD

PRESENT:

Mrs HF Carrick (Chair)

Mr LN Fisher
Mr NH Marriner
Mr GD Cook

Mr SB Collins
Mr M Wilson
Mr FI Morgan

Also in Attendance:-

Mrs J Crellin - Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer)
Ms A Clark - Senior Manager - Pensions and Financial Services 

(Deputy S151 Officer – Pensions)
Ms I Puzio - Chief Legal Officer (Monitoring Officer)
Ms K Fairclough - Chief Executive
Ms F Parker
Mr G Kelly        
Mr R Anderson        
Ms L Johnstone

- Group Finance Manager - Corporate Accounting
- Grant Thornton
- Grant Thornton
- Grant Thornton

PART 1 – ITEMS CONSIDERED IN THE 
PRESENCE OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS

15 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Mr F Cassidy and Ms C McCarron 
Holmes. 

16 MEMBERSHIP

Mr Morgan replaced Mr Cassidy and Mr M Wilson replaced Ms McCarron Holmes 
as members of the Committee for this meeting only.

17 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

There were no disclosures of interest made at the meeting.

95

Agenda Item 11c



2

18 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

There were no items on the Agenda for which the press and public should be 
excluded.

19 MINUTES

RESOLVED that, the minutes of the meeting held on 26 June 2019 be agreed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair.

20 ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2018/19

A report was considered from the Monitoring Officer regarding the Annual 
Governance Statement 2018/19. The report presented the final draft of the Annual 
Governance Statement 2018-19 and advised that following the annual review of the 
effectiveness of the Council’s corporate governance framework, no significant 
governance issues had been identified. 

The Monitoring Officer advised members that evidence had been gathered from a 
wide range of sources, in order to assess the performance of the Council in various 
aspects of its work. It was highlighted that specific questions had been asked of 
managers on contract management and Health and Safety. The detail of the 
evidence collected was included in the draft Annual Governance Statement (AGS). 
The work undertaken enabled an assessment of whether there were any significant 
governance issues to be made. 

Members were informed that a key item over previous years had been the Amey 
Lessons Learned Action Plan, however as sufficient progress had been made in 
embedding the actions and recommendations contained in the plan, contract 
management arrangements could now revert being regarded as part of day to day 
work. The Monitoring Officer invited the Committee to approve the draft AGS so that 
it could be published with the Statement of Accounts. 

Following a query from a member, the Monitoring Officer confirmed that the AGS 
was a retrospective document, a snapshot in time rather than a live document which 
was continually updated.

It was moved by Mr Morgan and seconded by Mr Fisher that the Annual 
Governance Statement be approved and signed prior to publication. This was 
agreed by assent of the Committee.

RESOLVED that, 

(1) The final Annual Governance Statement of Cumbria County Council for 
2018-19 be approved.

(2) The final Annual Governance Statement 2018-2019 is signed by the 
Leader of the Council and the Chief Executive prior to publication. 

96



3

21 ACCOUNTS OVERVIEW 2018/19

A report was considered from the Director of Finance (S151 Officer) regarding the 
Accounts Overview 2018/19. The report advised that the Unaudited Accounts for the 
Council and the separate Cumbria Local Government Pensions Scheme (Cumbria 
LGPS) had been published on 31 May 2019 in line with the Accounts and Audit 
Regulation 2015.

The Director of Finance (S151 Officer) explained the relationship between this item 
and the External Audit reports and outlined the responsibility of the Committee.

The Committee was reminded of the Accounts training session for members and 
reserve members of the Audit and Assurance Committee held on 22 July 2019 
where a lot of detail in relation to the understanding of the accounts had been 
presented. Slides from the session had been circulated to members. A synopsis of 
the training session content was provided by the Director of Finance (S151 Officer).

The report before members provided a comprehensive explanation of the Statement 
of Accounts for Cumbria County Council, the Cumbria Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS), Value for Money, the Letter of Representation, the Statement of 
Accounts for the Port of Workington Harbour Accounts 2018/19 and debt 
management. The Director of Finance (S151 Officer) asked the Committee to be 
content with the information contained within the report before determining the 
recommendations within the report.

The Director of Finance (s151 Officer) advised that the County Council was not in 
full agreement with the Auditor regarding accounting for balances of the Copeland 
Community Fund which the Council holds as an Accountable Body. Members were 
advised that the Council would not be amending the accounting treatment for 
2018/19.  This matter would be subject to further discussion with the Auditors during 
2019/20.  In relation to the Cumbria LGPS Fund significant findings – key judgement 
and estimates, Members were informed that an adjustment would not be made in 
respect of the valuation of Level 3 investments totalling £6.101m.

In referring to the Notes to the Accounting Statements, a member queried whether 
Cumbria County Holdings Ltd owned all of the companies identified in the document 
(p198 of Agenda pack) and who decided what the dividends would be. It was 
clarified for members that Cumbria County Holdings Ltd owned the companies in 
the list and the figures related to individual accounts before they were consolidated. 
The Group Finance Manager - Corporate Accounting undertook to provide further 
detail after the meeting. A short discussion took place on the membership of the 
Board.

The Director of Finance (S151 Officer) asked that given the detailed information 
provided during the meeting from Grant Thornton and County Council officers and 
taking into consideration the comprehensive reports before members, whether the 
Letters of Representation could be signed. Members agreed that they had no further 
queries on the Accounts, including those relating to the Port of Workington and that 
the letters could be signed.

97



4

The Director of Finance (S151 Officer) drew members’ attention to the Grant 
Thornton Action Plan which related to Journal upload. In order to assure the 
Committee that this was being addressed, an explanation was provided on why the 
issue had arisen and a detailed explanation was provided on the controls, checks 
and balances that were in place to resolve it. By assent of the Committee, the Action 
Plans were agreed.

The Chair thanked and congratulated the Director of Finance (S151 Officer) for her 
leadership, her team for the excellent work undertaken on the Accounts and Grant 
Thornton for their work. The Chief Executive endorsed this sentiment and thanked 
the Committee for its rigour and challenge. She also welcomed the effective input of 
the Committee. 

The Chair added that the unqualified accounts had been due to the high calibre of 
the Finance team and that the significance of the Value for Money conclusion 
should not be underestimated. She referred to the huge amount of work undertaken 
across the Council on Amey Lessons Learned  and the improvements continuing to 
be made in Children’s Services.  Finally, she reflected on the high quality of the 
Deep Dives that the Committee had received during the year.

The recommendations as set out in the report were moved en bloc and it was 

RESOLVED that,

(1) The report be noted;

(2) The matters set out by Grant Thornton in the Audit Findings Report in 
relation to Cumbria County Council (Agenda Item 8a) be considered and 
that the following be noted in particular: 

I. The headline issues arising from the audit (Page 3 of the report)

II. The summary of the Audit Findings (Page 4 of the report)

(3) The matters set out by Grant Thornton in the Audit Findings Report – 
Cumbria Local Government Pension Scheme Audit 2018/19 (Agenda 
Item 8b) be considered and that the following be noted in particular: 

I. The headlines (Page 3 of the report)

II. The summary of the Audit Findings (Page 4 of the report)

(4) Management’s decision not to adjust for the item raised in the unadjusted 
misstatement section of the CCC Audit Findings Report (page 30 of the 
report) and the Cumbria Local Government Pension Scheme Audit 
Findings Report (page 16 of the report) be approved; 

(5) The Letters of Representation on behalf of the Council in respect of the 
two sets of accounts to enable Grant Thornton to issue audit opinions on 
the accounts be agreed and the Director of Finance, as the Council’s 

98



5

Section 151 (Local Government Act 1972) Officer be authorised to sign 
the letters (Agenda items 7a and 7b);

(6) The Cumbria County Council Accounts 2018/19 which incorporate the 
Cumbria Local Government Pension Scheme Accounts be approved on 
behalf of the Council (Agenda item 7c and Agenda items 7c (1));

(7) The Port of Workington Harbour Accounts 2018/19 be approved on 
behalf of the Council (Agenda item 7d); 

(8) The Director of Finance, as the Council’s Section 151 (Local Government 
Act 1972) Officer be authorised to sign the three sets of accounts on 
behalf of the Council.  (Agenda Items 7c and 7d);

(9) The completed Action Plan to the Audit Findings Report for the Council 
be agreed (Agenda item 8a); 

(10) The completed Action Plan to the Audit Findings Report for the Council 
be agreed (Agenda item 8b). 

a Letter of Representation - Cumbria County Council

The Committee received the letter of representation to the Associate Director of 
Grant Thornton. The letter was provided in connection with the audit of the group 
financial statements of Cumbria County Council and its subsidiary undertakings to 
the year ended 31 March 2019 for the purpose of expressing an opinion as to 
whether the group and parent Council financial statements gave a true and fair view 
in all material respects in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 
in the UK 2018/19 and applicable law.

Discussion relating to this item is recorded at Minute 21.

b Letter of Representation - Cumbria Local Government Pension 
Scheme

The Committee received the letter of representation to the Associate Director of 
Grant Thornton regarding the Cumbria Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). 
The letter was provided in connection with Grant Thornton’s audit of the financial 
statements of Cumbria LGPS (‘the Fund’) for the year ended 31 March 2019 for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether the Fund’s financial statements are 
presented fairly, in all material respects in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the UK 2018/19 and applicable law.

Discussion relating to this item is recorded at Minute 21.

99



6

c Audited Statement of Accounts 2018/19

Members received the audited Statement of the Accounts for the year 2018/19.

Discussion relating to this item is recorded at Minute 21.

d Port of Workington Statement of Accounts

Members received the Port of Workington Statement of Accounts for the year 
ending 31 March 2019.

Discussion relating to this item is recorded at Minute 21.

22 GRANT THORNTON ITEMS

a External Audit Findings - Cumbria County Council 2018/19

The Associate Director – Grant Thornton guided members through the Audit 
Findings Report for Cumbria County Council for the year ended 31 March 2019.

Mr Kelly offered an apology for the lateness of the papers which was due to a very 
challenging timeline as the accounts were prepared at the end of May and the 
findings report was produced by the end of June. This had been compounded by the 
implications of the McCloud judgement. 

Mr Kelly was pleased to report a positive outcome for the audit findings for Cumbria 
County Council and guided members through the report in detail which included key 
findings and other matters arising from the audit. This included four adjustments to 
the financial statements. He advised that an objection raised in the 2016/17 
accounts had now been concluded, which had allowed the 2016/17 and 2018/19 
accounts to be closed and a certificate of closure to be provided. 

Members were advised that although there may be more adjustments listed in the 
Audit Findings report this year, none were material in quantity or nature. The 
adjustments related to updates to disclosure notes and the majority involved the 
provision of additional words with the aim of helping the reader of the Accounts. He 
concluded that the Committee could be assured that the accounts were of a high 
standard.

Mr Kelly reported on the financial statements in great detail. He proposed they were 
a true and fair position. He welcomed that the Annual Governance Statement had 
been produced to a high standard and there were robust arrangements in place. He 
commented on the adjustments relating to the McCloud case which had had an 
impact on the Cumbria LGPS Pension Scheme and Fire Pension Scheme. He 
provided an update on the completion of Grant Thornton’s work on journals and 
pensions.

100



7

A comprehensive explanation was provided on Value for Money (VFM) 
arrangements. He welcomed that the previous ‘except for’ in relation to contract 
management arrangements had been lifted. He anticipated giving an unqualified 
VFM statement. In terms of Statutory Duties, he was pleased to report that 
additional statutory powers or duties for 2018/19 had not been exercised. Mr Kelly 
highlighted the work undertaken on the objection relating to the 2016/17 audit and 
certification of the closure of the audits. An explanation was provided on the Grant 
Thornton fees.

The Director of Finance (S151 Officer) and her team were thanked for their input to 
what was considered to be an excellent audit from the point of view of the external 
auditor.

Ms Johnstone guided members through the key messages in great detail, 
commenting on the risks identified in the Audit Plan, the work Grant Thornton had 
undertaken and their conclusions about the risks. 

A briefing on the matters discussed with management was provided and the two 
risks identified in relation to Value For Money were noted. Grant Thornton 
considered the Council to be effective and have arrangements in place to mitigate 
the risks which related to the Medium Term Financial Plan and contract 
management and monitoring.

Two recommendations relating to the manual journal review process and journal 
upload tool were explained and members were informed about the Audit 
adjustments which Mr Kelly had referred to. The impact of the McCloud judgement 
on the Cumbria LGPS and Fire Pension Scheme was further explained. Disclosure 
changes identified during the audit and the impact of unadjusted misstatements 
were reported. 

In highlighting the volatility of property, a member queried whether the County 
Council owned any volatile commercial property at present. In acknowledging this, 
Grant Thornton did not consider that this affected the County Council. Members 
were assured that Grant Thornton gave rigorous challenge on this matter. 
Discussion ensued on this matter with the Group Finance Manager - Corporate 
Accounting commenting on the Council’s property portfolio and in relation to non-
service or commercial properties, its small value in terms of the whole asset 
balance. 

In referring to the five yearly valuation of properties, the Chair questioned the basis 
of the 7% valuation of total assets in 2018/19 (confirmed by Ms Johnstone as a year 
- end value) and wondered if that implied that not enough valuations had been 
undertaken. In response, the Group Finance Manager - Corporate Accounting 
advised that there were intermittent valuations. She reported on an accountancy 
change which had resulted in the valuation of all schools in one year.

The Chair welcomed that the 2016/17 audit objection had been closed and that fees 
for the main audit had remained at the same level. However, she considered that 
the significant amount of work undertaken in relation to the objection and the 

101



8

resultant costs incurred were of questionable value to the Council.  A number of 
members supported the Chair’s comments. The Chair urged Grant Thornton to 
respond to the NAO’s current consultation on the Code of Audit Practice, in terms of 
encouraging them to firm up the definition of an objection.  Mr Kelly acknowledged 
the Chair’s points and advised on the work undertaken to ensure that due process 
was followed after an objection was raised on value for money on the Kendal 
Infrastructure Plan in 2016/17. He explained that the process for considering public 
objections was lengthy and costly. 

A member raised that he remained to be assured about how the Cumbria Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP) grant award was spent. In highlighting the improved 
working relationship with the LEP, the Director of Finance (S151 Officer) talked 
members through the refresh to the Local Assurance Framework which had been 
drafted in conjunction with the County Council, the improvement in its approach to 
governance and project administration work in 2018/19 compared to previous years 
and that an officers group met quarterly to review governance. The Chief Executive 
commented on the positive shifting nature of the LEP and that any previous matters 
were being addressed.

b External Audit Findings - Cumbria Local Government Pension 
Scheme 2018/19

The Associate Director – Grant Thornton guided members through the audit findings 
for Cumbria Local Government Pension Scheme. Mr Kelly advised that he intended 
to give an unqualified opinion and confirmed that, as set out in the audit findings 
report, the statements gave a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Pension Scheme. He noted the high quality of the accounts and the supporting 
working papers.

Mr Kelly explained that the audit had identified a few small items which he guided 
members through: these related to the McCloud judgements and IT General 
controls relating to the journal upload tool. Mr Kelly talked members through the key 
judgements and estimates. He highlighted that the first transition of Pension Fund 
assets into Border to Coast Pensions Partnership had taken place during the 
financial year and that this had been factored in to the audit work undertaken. He 
informed members that the Audit was substantially complete.  He reported on the 
additional fees arising as a result of work carried out on the scheme’s Equity 
Protection instrument and in assessing the impact of the McCloud judgement on the 
Scheme’s Present Value of past service liabilities. 

He set out the approach to materiality and highlighted the risks identified in the Audit 
Plan and how these had been addressed through the audit work undertaken. He 
highlighted that the report confirmed that the Fund’s use of the going concern basis 
of accounting was appropriate. Mr Kelly talked about other communication 
requirements such as disclosures and matters in relation to fraud. The Action Plan 
was noted and a short report was given on the follow up work undertaken on the 
previous year’s recommendations. He considered there to be a high standard of 
accounting.

102



9

Discussion took place on the Mc Cloud judgement and the Cumbria LGPS. A 
member acknowledged that the timing of the judgement was very challenging given 
that the preparation of the accounts was underway and work had started on the 
Triennial Revaluation. It was queried whether an audit took place on the payment of 
pensions as there had been recent performance issues with the company who 
administered pension payments. Mr Anderson reported on the audit work that took 
place on this matter. He advised that the testing had identified no areas of concern 
and therefore this had not been flagged as a risk. The Director of Finance (S151 
Officer) advised on the work of Cumbria Pensions Committee and Local Pension 
Board, their monitoring role of the company who administer pension benefits and 
that they had received assurance that performance had improved. Members were 
advised that the Pensions Committee and Local Pension Board kept a watching 
brief on this matter.

A member asked a question on materiality. Mr Anderson confirmed that materiality 
was based on the asset value in the accounts.

23 FORWARD PLAN - AUDIT AND ASSURANCE COMMITTEE

The Committee’s Forward Plan was considered. It was agreed that Safeguarding – 
Adults would be the Deep Dive for the September meeting.

Discussion took place on the date of the July 2020 meeting. In order to allow time 
for the reports to be prepared within the stipulated timescale, the meeting date 
would change to 29 July 2020.

RESOLVED that,

(1) The Deep Dive for the September meeting will be Safeguarding – Adults
(2) The July meeting in 2020 be changed to 29 July 2020.

24 DATE & TIME OF NEXT MEETING

The next meeting will be held on 17 September 2019 at 10.30am at Cumbria House, 
Carlisle. 

The meeting ended at 12.40 pm

103



This page is intentionally left blank



WORKINGTON HARBOUR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Minutes of a Meeting of the Workington Harbour Management Committee held on 
Thursday, 18 July 2019 at 10.00 am at Port of Workington

PRESENT

Mr K Little (Chair)
 

County Councillors

Mr A Bowness
Mrs C Tibble

Allerdale Borough Councillors

Mr M Jenkinson
Mr S Stoddart

Officers in Attendance:-

Mrs L Davis - Democratic Services Officer
Ms A Jones - Acting Executive Director - Economy and Infrastructure
Mr J W Lihou - Port Manager

PART 1 – ITEMS CONSIDERED IN THE 
PRESENCE OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS

The Chair welcomed the new Allerdale Borough Council representatives to the 
meeting following their appointment to the Committee.

12 ELECTION OF VICE CHAIR

RESOLVED, that Mr M Johnson be elected Vice Chair of the Workington Harbour 
Management Committee.

13 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Mr J Holliday, Mr M Johnson and Mr A 
Markley. 

14 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED, that the press and public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of agenda item 11 – Port Manager’s report on the 
grounds that it contains exempt information as defined under 
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972 relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person including the authority holding that information.

105

Agenda Item 11d



15 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

There were no disclosures of interest.

16 MINUTES

RESOLVED, that the minutes of the Workington Harbour Management Committee 
held on 23 April 2019 were confirmed as a correct record and signed 
by the Chair.

17 TERMS OF REFERENCE

The Committee received the terms of reference for the Workington Harbour 
Management Committee.  The terms of reference had been agreed at the full 
County Council meeting held on 11 April 2019.

RESOLVED, that the terms of reference be noted.

18 MEMBERSHIP

The Committee noted the membership of the Workington Harbour Management 
Committee.  The Chair advised that Mr Jenkinson, Mr Johnson and Mr Stoddart 
were now Allerdale Borough Council’s representatives on the Committee following 
the Borough Council’s election in May.

RESOLVED, that the membership be noted.

19 ACTION PLAN

Members received the Recommendations and Action Plan for Workington Harbour 
Management Committee from the Port Manager.  

It was noted that the minutes of the Workington Harbour Management Committee 
were now received at Allerdale Local Committee meetings for information.  It was 
further noted that a review of governance arrangements in line with the DfTs 
recently published Ports Good Governance Guidance had been undertaken.

The Port Manager advised members that arrangements were being made to hold a 
PMSC awareness training session for the Duty Holder and Workington Harbour 
Management Committee members in September/October. 

The Port Manager detailed the terms of reference for the Committee and asked 
members to identify intended actions to ensure implementation and management of 
these.  It was noted that all the information needed by the members to fulfil their 

106



functions and duties were contained in the reports received at the Committee 
meetings.  Members were also asked to consider the recruitment of non-voting co-
opted members to the Management Committee who were stakeholder 
representatives and/or individuals who could provide valuable skills and experience 
in support of the management of the Port for a limited specified time.  

In discussion, members noted that the biggest challenge was attracting new 
investment in the self-sustaining Port.  The Chair suggested the establishment of a 
Port User Group, involving representatives from the local community, stakeholders 
and businesses to generate ideas for renewed investment, growth and promotion of 
the Port.  He further suggested that, if established, a representative from the Group 
be recruited as a co-opted member of the Committee.  Members welcomed the 
suggestion and the Acting Executive Director – Economy and Infrastructure agreed 
to explore interest in this.   

The Acting Executive  Director  - Economy and Infrastructure informed members 
that a forward looking Business Plan for the Port would need to be developed and 
input from the Committee, the LEP and stakeholders would be required for this.  It 
was noted that if a User Group was established, feedback from the Group could be 
used in the development of the Plan.  Members noted that the LEP were currently 
developing a Cumbria Ports Growth Strategy to ensure the Local Industrial Strategy 
recognised the roles ports play and the Port Manager was involved in this process.  
The Allerdale Borough Council member suggested inviting an officer from the 
Borough Council to attend Committee meetings as the Port was integral to both 
councils.  It was further suggested that an open day be arranged to promote the 
Port’s commercialism.  

RESOLVED, that

(1) the action plan be noted;

(2) the Acting Executive Director – Economy and Infrastructure investigate 
interest in the establishment of a Port User Group;

(3) an officer from Allerdale Borough Council be invited to attend Committee 
meetings;

(4) the Acting Executive Director – Economy and Infrastructure commences 
the initial process for the future development of a Port’s Business Plan;

(5) an open day be arranged to highlight the Port’s commercialism.

20 ACCOUNTS AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The Port Manager updated members on the latest Revenue and Expenditure for the 
quarter ending 30 June 2019.  The Committee were advised that, in the first quarter, 
the operating target was above expectation, £462,654, the operating expenditure 

107



was £396,852 and the trading surplus £65,802.  Members were advised that the 
earmarked reserves would need to be used for the forecasted overspend of the 
dredging budget.  

It was recognised by members that the trading position of the Port was volatile and 
a lot of the contracts in place were short term.  The Chair congratulated the staff for 
all their hard work operating above target in the difficult trading times.  The 
discussion led on to potential future use of the facilities and the development of the 
land around the Port.  The difficulties of the rail infrastructure and the impact that 
had was discussed at length.  

RESOLVED, that the report be noted.

21 DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING

Officers agreed to look at future Committee meeting dates, in consultation with 
members.

22 PORT MANAGER'S REPORT

A report by the Port Manager informed the committee of the general commercial 
activities that were on going and anticipated. There had been a number of enquiries 
and quotation requests from various parties. 

Port Health and Safety

An appraisal of health and safety at the Port was given to members.  The minutes of 
the Port’s Health and Safety Committee were appended to the report.

Port Marine Safety Code (PMSC)

The Port Manager highlighted the salient points from the Marine Safety 
Management performance reports, covering the 12 month period from 1 June 2018 
to 31 May 2019 and the three year period from 1 June 2016 to 31 May 2019.  It was 
noted that an external audit would be carried out in August 2019.

Investment Programme

The Port Manager gave a verbal update at the meeting on the Port’s capital 
investment requirements.  The capital investment requirements were currently being 
reviewed by the Council.

Dredging Programme

Members noted that the dredger was in place to commence activity which would be 
dependent on weather and tidal conditions. 

108



In discussion of the report, the Acting Executive Director – Economy and 
Infrastructure emphasised the necessity for long term plans for renewed 
development, improvements in the infrastructure and growth at the Port.  A short 
discussion took place on the latest position of the railway bridge.

RESOLVED, that the report be noted.

The meeting ended at 11.55 am

109



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	7 Minutes of the Cabinet
	8 Corporate Parenting Board Annual Update 2018/19
	Appendix 1 ccc 11/09 - CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD ANNUAL UPDATE

	9 Scrutiny Update Report
	Appendix 1 CCC 11/09 - SCRUTINY UPDATE REPORT

	11a Cumbria Pensions Committee
	11b Audit and Assurance Committee - 26 June 2019
	11c Audit and Assurance Minutes 26 July 2019
	11d Workington Harbour Management Committee

